

HAVING IT BOTH WAYS: GCC OIL FACES PEAK DEMAND

BY ANTOINE HALFF AND ROBIN MILLS DECEMBER 2021

ABOUT THE CENTER ON GLOBAL ENERGY POLICY

The Center on Global Energy Policy at Columbia University SIPA advances smart, actionable and evidence-based energy and climate solutions through research, education and dialogue. Based at one of the world's top research universities, what sets CGEP apart is our ability to communicate academic research, scholarship and insights in formats and on timescales that are useful to decision makers. We bridge the gap between academic research and policy complementing and strengthening the world-class research already underway at Columbia University, while providing support, expertise, and policy recommendations to foster stronger, evidence-based policy. Recently, Columbia University President Lee Bollinger announced the creation of a new Climate School — the first in the nation — to tackle the most urgent environmental and public health challenges facing humanity.

Visit us at www.energypolicy.columbia.edu

🛉 🔰 讷 @ColumbiaUEnergy

ABOUT THE SCHOOL OF INTERNATIONAL AND PUBLIC AFFAIRS

SIPA's mission is to empower people to serve the global public interest. Our goal is to foster economic growth, sustainable development, social progress, and democratic governance by educating public policy professionals, producing policy-related research, and conveying the results to the world. Based in New York City, with a student body that is 50 percent international and educational partners in cities around the world, SIPA is the most global of public policy schools.

For more information, please visit www.sipa.columbia.edu

For a full list of financial supporters of the Center on Global Energy Policy at Columbia University SIPA, please visit our website at https://www.energypolicy.columbia.edu/partners. See below a list of members that are currently in CGEP's Visionary Annual Circle. This list is updated periodically.

Air Products Anonymous Jay Bernstein Breakthrough Energy LLC Children's Investment Fund Foundation (CIFF) Occidental Petroleum Corporation Ray Rothrock Kimberly and Scott Sheffield Tellurian Inc.



HAVING IT BOTH WAYS: GCC OIL FACES PEAK DEMAND

BY ANTOINE HALFF AND ROBIN MILLS DECEMBER 2021

Columbia University CGEP 1255 Amsterdam Ave. New York, NY 10027 energypolicy.columbia.edu



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank several anonymous reviewers for their helpful feedback; Matthew Robinson, Christina Nelson, Jeffrey Culang, and Andrea Brody-Barre for editorial support; and Anna Gossett for designing the report.

This paper represents the research and views of the authors. It does not necessarily represent the views of the Center on Global Energy Policy. The paper may be subject to further revision.

Contributions to SIPA for the benefit of CGEP are general use gifts that allow the Center discretion in how the funds are allocated and to ensure that our research remains independent, unless otherwise noted in relevant publications. More information is available at https://energypolicy.columbia.edu/about/partners.



ABOUT THE AUTHORS

Antoine Halff is an Adjunct Senior Research Scholar at the Center on Global Energy Policy, Columbia University and chief analyst at Kayrros, a climate and energy data analytics company he co-founded in 2016. Earlier positions include chief oil analyst at the International Energy Agency (IEA) and editor of its flagship publication, the Oil Market Report (OMR); lead industry economist at the U.S. Energy Information Administration; head of commodities research at Société Générale brokerage unit Newedge; director of the global energy practice at political-risk consultancy Eurasia Group and New York bureau chief at the Energy Intelligence Group, publisher of Petroleum Intelligence Weekly and other newsletters.

Halff is the co-editor of Energy Poverty: Global Challenges and Local Solutions (Oxford: Oxford University Press, November 2014), which former World Health Organization head Gro Harlem Brundtland called "an excellent resource for the thoughtful analyst and political leader." He earned his Masters degree from the Ecole des Hautes Etudes en Sciences Sociales in Paris and served as the Adjunct Professor of International & Public Affairs at Columbia University from 2006 to 2012. He has lived in Paris, Seoul, New York and Washington.

Robin Mills is a Non-Resident Fellow at the Center on Global Energy Policy. In his full time capacity he is CEO of Qamar Energy, which he established in 2015 to meet the need for regionally based Middle East insight and project delivery across the oil and gas, renewable, hydrogen and carbon management sectors. Prior to this, he led major consulting assignments for the EU in Iraq and for a variety of international oil companies on Middle East business development, integrated gas and power generation and renewable energy. Robin worked for a decade for Shell, concentrating on new business development in the UAE, Qatar, Iraq, Iran and other Middle Eastern countries. He subsequently worked for six years with Dubai Holding and the Emirates National Oil Company (ENOC), where he advanced business development efforts in the Middle East energy sector.

He is the author of two books, *The Myth of the Oil Crisis*, which evaluates global long-term oil supply, and *Capturing Carbon*, the first comprehensive overview of carbon capture and storage for the non-specialist, and co-editor of *Low-Carbon Energy in the Middle East and North Africa*. He is the columnist on energy and environmental issues at The National newspaper (Abu Dhabi) and comments widely on energy issues in the media, including Foreign Policy, the Financial Times, The Atlantic, CNN, CNBC Arabiya, BBC, Al Jazeera, Bloomberg, Sky News and others.

He has been Non-Resident Fellow for Energy at the Brookings Institution. He holds a firstclass degree in Geology from the University of Cambridge and speaks Arabic, Farsi, Dutch and Norwegian.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Executive Summary	06
Introduction: Oil's Role in the Energy Transition	08
Peak Oil Demand: The Emergence of a Mainstream Narrative	13
Implications for Producers: The Need for Self-Reinvention	18
Demand Defense	21
Price and Volume Policy	21
Climate Policy	23
Transport Fuels: Efficiency and Mobile CCUS	25
Power Generation	27
Demand Creation	29
Petrochemicals	29
Nonmetallic Materials	32
Hydrogen	34
New Geographies and Sectors	35
Implications	39
Competition	39
Climate	39
Risks	40
Conclusion	42
Notes	45



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Global efforts to address climate change offer difficult choices for the oil- and natural gasreliant economies of the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC). While swings in commodity prices over the decades have led to calls for economic diversification, some countries are now planning in earnest how best to adjust to the prospects of peak oil demand as the world strives to meet Paris Agreement and Glasgow Pact goals and an increasing number of nations commit to net-zero carbon emissions by midcentury. The issue is no longer simply about volatility and cyclicality of the oil market but rather a secular, structural, irreversible decline in global oil consumption, and the choices facing producers to support their hydrocarbon-reliant economies are fraught with risk.

This paper, part of the work by Columbia University's Center on Global Energy Policy on oil and gas and the energy transition, examines two broad actions being taken by petrostates to remain relevant in a decarbonizing world: demand defense and demand creation.

Demand defense involves many tactics, including price and volume policies that drive out high-cost competitors and ensure maximal use of the generally lower-cost oil reserves held by GCC states. These states can, for example, encourage the development and deployment of technologies such as carbon capture, utilization, and storage that may make continued use of fossil fuels during the transition more palatable. They can also adopt oil and gas production techniques that generate a smaller carbon footprint, such as curbing gas flaring and venting practices to reduce methane emissions, and electrifying offshore installations. In addition, they can attempt to support demand by investing in improved vehicle fossil fuel efficiency to cut the environmental impacts and the cost of travel.

In addition, GCC countries can look to create new demand for their oil and gas reserves, tapping into new or growing businesses and regions. Petrochemicals for products with anticipated demand growth such as plastics and other non-metallic materials is an area of intense focus. Investing in new energy creation, such as hydrogen production, is also being considered through pilot projects. And while most oil producers have a keen interest in capturing existing high oil demand in China and India, others are looking to emerging economies, mostly in Africa and parts of South Asia, which still face energy poverty. With the right infrastructure investments, these regions could create substantial new demand as fossil fuels substitute for unsustainably harvested biomass, which can result in better—if not zero-carbon-ideal—health, environmental, and climate impacts.

The routes GCC countries take in adjusting their economies to peak oil demand have major implications for the region as well as for the pace and scope of the global clean energy transition, including the following:

- Policies encouraging higher oil demand, if not offset elsewhere, are likely to draw strong opposition from environmental organizations and financial institutions.
- Countries that are large oil and gas exporters will want to preserve markets for both these fuels as much as possible. Major oil producers with natural gas export potential

may look to develop sales of the fuel due to its perception as a greener alternative to energy sources such as coal, at least during the transition to full decarbonization though natural gas too is under growing environmentalist challenge.

- Increased use of fossil fuels will lead to higher carbon dioxide emissions, particularly in the near term, and potentially necessitate a faster decline in overall emissions thereafter. This could expose oil producers to trade restrictions or even boycotts.
- Extended use of fossil fuels and the related climate damage is likely to harm a number of leading oil exporting countries directly through drought and desertification, flooding of low-lying coastal areas (including important energy facilities), loss of fisheries, and heat waves and near-intolerable summer weather, and indirectly via political destabilization and refugee flows.
- Because of these geopolitical and environmental risks, any actions to foster oil demand would have to be accompanied by robust and realistic measures to offset increased emissions or reduce them in other sectors, along with a clear communication campaign. Such a campaign would need to tout the benefits of new oil use in, for example, producing products with environmentally superior characteristics and reducing energy poverty in lower-income countries.
- Investments in refineries, petrochemical facilities, and improved internal combustion engine vehicles are tantamount to doubling down on an oil-fueled future. Strandedasset risks loom large. Major GCC oil exporters may seek to privatize a portion of their resources as well as hedge against peak oil demand by investing profits in nonoil technologies such as biomaterials; battery technologies and related minerals; electric vehicles, charging stations, and associated retail; and wind and solar power.



INTRODUCTION: OIL'S ROLE IN THE ENERGY TRANSITION

Few countries face the challenge of decarbonization more viscerally than Persian Gulf oil producers. Global warming is by definition a global threat, calling for shared, urgent preventive and adaptive steps. At the 21st Conference of the Parties, each of the participating countries committed to doing its part to avert catastrophic outcomes and cut its own greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions.¹ For Middle Eastern oil and gas exporters, however, the threat of climate change hits home in a very personal way. For these fossil fuel-dependent economies and, first and foremost, for the Gulf monarchies,² the cure to climate change is in many ways as problematic as the disease. A measure of this challenge was recently provided by the projections of the International Energy Agency's (IEA's) May 2021 report³ on reaching net-zero carbon dioxide emissions by 2050: a near-80 percent reduction in oil consumption by midcentury with a concomitant fall in revenues, a drop in oil prices to \$35 per barrel by 2030 and around \$25 per barrel by 2050, and a fall in per capita earnings in oil and gas producers from \$1,800 recently to \$450 by the 2030s.

The Gulf group of oil producers account for an oversize share of the world's primary energy supply. These states are the world's premier oil suppliers. The largest among them, Saudi Arabia, is both (pandemic times apart) the world's number one oil exporter and, along with Russia and the United States, part of a small group that may be dubbed the "G3" of oil, the top three oil producers.⁴ Collectively, Arab Gulf states hold 48 percent of the world's oil and 38 percent of its gas reserves. Their economic and geopolitical ascent since the mid-20th century has been predicated on the rise of the global oil economy, which they have enabled and from which they have profited more than any others. The transition to a lower-carbon fuel mix directly challenges their dependence on fossil fuel exports, threatening the basis of their economies and political systems. Seen from Riyadh, Abu Dhabi, or Kuwait City, the prospect of "peak oil demand" resulting from climate policies and technological change can easily seem as devastating as climate change itself.

This transition is a matter of when, not if. Signs of global warming are everywhere. Catastrophic weather events pinned at least partly to it—from heat waves and droughts to forest fires, floods, and hurricanes—have become frequent occurrences worldwide, a frightening fact of life rather than part of a remote, dystopian future. At the same time, low-carbon solutions are now within reach. Solar and wind energy and green electricity are steadily becoming more cost competitive, and advances in technology look increasingly capable of bringing decarbonization at scale.

This suggests that an engineered peak in oil consumption may occur from a mix of market, technology and policy forces without too much damage—climate effects notwithstanding—to consuming-country economies, unlike after the oil price shocks of 1973 and 1979 when declines in world oil consumption came hand in hand with considerable economic stress. Decarbonization momentum is building on the supply side, where renewable energy (solar, wind, and supporting systems such as batteries) can replace not just oil and coal but even natural gas in power generation. And it is also building on the demand front, with electric



vehicles offering for the first time since the mid-20th century the prospect of a ground transport system not primarily run by oil. For the Gulf countries, the challenge of a looming decline in oil demand seems further compounded, at least in the short term, by the rise and continuing resilience of US tight oil production, which competes with Gulf countries for what market growth remains in the oil sector itself.

No wonder that calls for the economic diversification of the Gulf countries have been rising, not least from the Gulf capitals themselves.⁵ Such calls have a familiar ring.⁶ Past periods of low oil prices have regularly produced similar appeals for diversification from multilateral lenders such as the International Monetary Fund and others. The oil market crash of 2014 and subsequent period of relatively low oil prices naturally rekindled these appeals. Unlike in the past, however, the problem for so-called petrostates is not just the volatility and cyclicality of the oil market but rather the prospect of a secular, structural, irreversible decline in global oil consumption.

With such concerns compounding the impact of the oil market downturn, Arab Gulf leaders have embraced the diversification agenda with unprecedented resolve.⁷ Plans for "national transformation" have been put forward;⁸ these are not new or unique, but concentrate more than ever on post-oil and climate-compatible economies and are pursued with more vigor than previously in at least some of the GCC states. Revealingly, one of the first public statements made by Saudi Crown Prince Mohammed bin Salman (MBS) after his father ascended to the throne in early 2016 was a call to end the kingdom's "addiction to oil."⁹ This call echoed one made earlier by Sheikh Mohammed bin Zayed, the de facto ruler of nearby Abu Dhabi. "In 50 years, when we might have the last barrel of oil, the question is: when it is shipped abroad, will we be sad?" Mohammed bin Zayed asked rhetorically in 2015. His answer: "If we are investing today in the right sectors, I can tell you we will celebrate at that moment."¹⁰ Of course, the timing of peak oil demand matters: 2025 would be an emergency, and even 2040 is not far away in investment and policy cycles, while 2065 would allow a more measured adjustment.

But while Gulf Arab producers talk the talk, are they walking the walk? Their actual policies often seem to belie their rhetoric. Arab Gulf investment in oil and gas continues even as it slows in other sectors.¹¹ Saudi and other officials have gone on the record to push back against the idea of a quick end to the oil economy.¹² Despite MBS's self-declared indifference to oil prices,¹³ Riyadh has clearly taken a keen interest in shoring them up, leading the Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries' (OPEC's) campaign to do so in both 2016, in the wake of the 2014-15 oil price crash, and 2020, during the COVID-19 pandemic. Unprecedented steps taken by the kingdom to make up for shortfalls in oil revenue, namely Saudi debt issuances and securitizations, and the IPO of 1.7 percent of Saudi Aramco,¹⁴ while revealing short-term budgetary pressures, also hinge on the assumption of the continued relevance and profitability of the Saudi oil sector in the longer term.

Are Saudi Arabia and its Gulf neighbors doubling down on the oil economy or planning their exit? Does their continued investment in the oil sector betray a shallow commitment to diversification or signal the elusiveness of an effective exit strategy? Or is the opposition between their commitment to hydrocarbons and to the energy transition a false dichotomy?

The authors argue that there is no absolute contradiction between continued Gulf commitment to the oil sector and adaptation to a changing energy system. For petrostates,



economic diversification simply cannot happen overnight. Gulf producers will also continue to need oil revenues to finance the high cost of economic diversification. Last but not least, next-generation oil derivatives such as advanced plastics, nonmetallic materials, and petrochemicals are required to implement the green economy, such as electric vehicles and carbon-efficient infrastructure.

While some commentators have emphasized the urgency of the need for the Gulf countries to transform their economies (the IEA¹⁵ and Chatham House¹⁶), other publications have laid out the near impossibility of a full transition away from oil, even within a few decades (Diwan, Herzog,¹⁷ and Fattouh and Sen¹⁸). Others still have argued that leading oil producers can continue to focus on that sector even in a carbon-constrained world (Goldthau and Westphal¹⁹). Rather than killing the goose that lays the golden eggs, there is a strong case for responsibly leveraging the oil sector itself to support the decarbonization agenda both at home and globally. Economic diversification and continued investment in the oil sector can work hand in hand.

There are at least three ways in which decarbonization warrants continued development of the Gulf's oil sector. First, even in the event of a rapid energy transition, oil will likely continue to account for an important share of the global fuel mix for decades to come. While Gulf countries are often seen as losers of the energy transition, they may in fact come out on top, at least for a while.²⁰ Few countries can produce oil at a lower cost than the Gulf monarchies, particularly Saudi Arabia, the UAE, and Kuwait. The IEA net-zero report sees OPEC's market share (dominated by the GCC members along with Iran and Iraq) rising from 37 percent recently to 52 percent by 2050, albeit of a much smaller total.

Furthermore, few countries can do so with a smaller carbon footprint.²¹ Saudi, Kuwaiti, and Emirati crudes come with relatively low GHG emissions, making them more attractive than other types of crude in a decarbonizing global economy. If jurisdictions such as the European Union (EU) impose border carbon tariffs on imports or set a limit on their GHG intensity, the GCC could realize premium pricing for its remaining oil and gas exports. (The difference between the cleanest and dirtiest upstream production is estimated at about \$8/barrel [bbl] for a \$50/ton carbon tax.²²) McGlade and Ekins²³ indicate that although nearly 40 percent of Middle Eastern oil reserves would be unburnable by 2050 in a 2°C scenario, this is a function of the Middle East's long reserves life. Its production of about 430 billion bbl during 2015-50 would still be far more than that of any other region and almost half of total world production in that period, as it gains market share from producers with higher carbon footprints, higher costs, and shorter reserves lives. Recent advances in satellite-based detection of methane emissions independently confirm that Gulf countries rank among the oil and gas producers that can boast the lowest methane footprint, a decisive advantage in the context of the EU's Methane Strategy.²⁴

While concerns over stranded assets and investor pressures for cleaner fuels may undermine private investment in international oil projects, Gulf countries are set to keep playing a key role in ensuring oil supply security during the transition. Their market share is likely to rise (after falling during the response to the US shale oil surge), and their absolute production levels could continue increasing for some time even in an overall shrinking market. Saudi Aramco sees its market share at about 12.5 percent in 2020 rising to 20 percent by 2050, while its



petroleum liquids output increases at an average annual rate of 0.7 percent between 2015 and 2050.²⁵ The peak oil demand narrative comes in different versions: depending on a wide range of factors, the decline in oil consumption could be sudden or gradual and associated with higher or lower oil prices. In any event, continued investment in the oil sector will be required to offset declining rates and ensure an orderly transition to a cleaner fuel mix. As the lowest-cost producer and one with very low Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions (i.e., GHG emissions directly and indirectly associated with the production process), the Middle East could end up as the last man standing of the sector. Gulf producers certainly have every incentive to ensure that is the case, if only to smooth their own transitions.

Second, just as the oil industry will continue to play a role on a global scale through the energy transition, so too will it be instrumental in the transformation of Gulf economies at the local level. Oil-addicted economies cannot and should not go cold turkey. The oil sector is their economic lifeline, and it alone can fund their transitions to a more diversified and cleaner model of economic development and activity. The national transformations of the Gulf countries are capital-intensive and potentially destabilizing projects for which no other sectors in the petrostates can foot the bill. The oil sector itself is thus needed to plan its own succession, as it were. The key for oil-producing countries will not be to forego oil revenues but to use them in a new way—to leverage their oil incomes to support, rather than choke off, the non-oil sector.

Finally, the transformation of oil demand brought by the energy transition and the decarbonization agenda will be qualitative as well as quantitative. Not only will oil consumption go down in terms of volume but the uses of oil and the types of products made out of crude (the product slate) will also evolve. New modes of consumption are already emerging. As the cliché goes, the oil sector must not be the problem but part of the solution. The oil industry can help advance the diversification agenda through self-transformation. This entails both ways of reducing its carbon footprint, such as advances in carbon capture and utilization, and new types of products and uses, such as hydrogen, advanced plastics and nonmetallic materials for use in electric vehicles, and other applications. Not surprisingly, Gulf countries are taking a keen interest in these frontier markets. Some of them are already pursuing investment opportunities in this space. For its part, Saudi Arabia has promoted the "circular carbon economy" as a central part of its climate response.²⁶

While media and expert commentary on the Arab Gulf countries has focused generically on their need to reduce their oil dependence, diversify their activities, and retool their economies to spread their risks and better suit the decarbonization agenda—and on the difficulty of doing so—this paper focuses in detail on the incumbent fuel and reviews the current policies being pursued by Gulf countries and the future options available to them in the oil sector itself. After taking stock of the momentum toward peak oil demand, the paper reviews how Arab Gulf countries can protect their oil sector and leverage their competitive advantages even as they adjust to a changing global energy system.

Many of these strategies are already being implemented by Gulf countries. They fall, broadly speaking, into two main categories: on the one hand, defensive moves to protect oil's established markets in a lower-carbon economy and, on the other hand, demand-creation strategies to open up new frontiers to oil consumption and tap new opportunities as they



arise from the energy transition itself. In describing these efforts, this paper discusses how the opposition between protecting the oil sector and diversifying the economy is more apparent than real. For Arab Gulf exporters, the choice is not between doubling down or quitting. Rather, Gulf petrostates can have it both ways and leverage their competitive advantages in the oil economy to advance global change and make oil part of the solution.

This is not to say that such an approach is free of difficulties or potential pitfalls. While there is a possibility for Gulf countries to preserve a role for their main industry in a decarbonized or decarbonizing—economy, success is far from assured. The oil industry's track record as an engine of economic development is not encouraging: its history offers more case studies of the "oil curse" than of successful, diversified economic development. Should Gulf countries collectively emerge as the last man standing of oil, there clearly is a risk that their very success, far from enabling their national transformations, might defer, undermine, or disincentivize them. Finally, the successful development of new oil products such as advanced plastics and nonmetallic materials will likely use as feedstock the lighter fractions of the oil barrel, leaving substantial volumes of heavier by-products that refiners would then seek to dispose of at distressed prices, potentially making it more difficult for cleaner fuels to compete, and thus interfering with and undermining the global energy transition.

Over the last year, the COVID-19 pandemic has further exacerbated the Gulf producers' conundrum. On the one hand, the fall in oil demand caused by global lockdowns and the attendant oil price crash, along with ambitious green recovery plans in large energy consumers, have reinforced the urgency of the imperative of economic diversification and reduced dependence on oil revenues. On the other hand, the revenue collapse has heightened the short-term challenge of funding Gulf producers' national transformation plans and emphasized their need to maintain their cost and carbon advantages in a shrinking and increasingly competitive oil market. The twin needs of continued oil competitiveness and economic diversification are more acute than ever. The risk of mishandling these seemingly conflicting but complementary goals has never loomed larger.



PEAK OIL DEMAND: THE EMERGENCE OF A MAINSTREAM NARRATIVE

The question of peak oil demand has replaced that of peak oil supply in recent years.²⁷ A range of forecasts by major agencies and oil companies show a peak in oil demand between the early 2020s and 2035²⁸ (although some scenarios from ExxonMobil, Equinor—formerly Statoil—and the US Energy Information Administration show no peak by 2040 or 2050). Even Saudi Aramco's IPO prospectus mentions a "levelling off" of growth around 2035 with a plateau by 2040.²⁹ Recent views from BP and the IEA, expressed in the aftermath of the first stage of the pandemic, suggest that 2019 could already have marked the all-time maximum for petroleum consumption, though signs of strong rebound in some sectors of oil consumption have since challenged these findings. The fast-growing and increasingly wide acceptance of the idea of peak demand has far-reaching implications for oil-producing companies and countries. Oil-exporting countries of the Persian Gulf, in particular, are being challenged to prepare for an expected decline in global oil consumption—a daunting task given their dependence on its export revenues.

The COVID-19 outbreak has further solidified expectations that oil demand may come to an inflection point sooner rather than later. The pandemic has brought home the fragility of our shared ecosystem and strengthened the resolve of both the private and public sectors to combat climate change. Since the onset of the pandemic, many of the world's leading economies have embraced ambitious net-zero targets. As former Schlumberger chief executive officer Andrew Gould recently put it, "The global health crisis . . . triggered increasing attention on climate action and the environment. The European Green Deal is channeling significant investment and bringing needed regulation towards green finance, lower emissions, increased use of biomass, and new energy sources such as hydrogen. A new US administration is bringing change aimed at overtaking the EU and China in clean technology."³⁰ In the private sector, many oil companies have similarly pledged to reduce their climate footprints and achieve carbon neutrality by midcentury, if not sooner, and have come under increasing shareholder and legal pressure to do so.³¹ Oil major BP has gone a step further by pledging to reduce oil and gas production by at least 1 million barrels per day (bpd) of oil equivalent, or 40 percent, by 2030 from 2019 levels, and to dramatically reduce the role of incumbent hydrocarbon fuels in its overall portfolio of assets.³² The IEA's May 2021 report, as discussed in the introduction, provides a dramatic accounting of the changes that reaching net-zero carbon by 2050 could have for oil and gas and the whole energy system.

Officially, Gulf producers do not dispute the need for decarbonization. Gulf countries are signatories of the Paris climate agreement of December 2015, are increasingly embracing renewable energy at home, have even taken on leadership roles in the promotion of clean fuels and efficiency, and have been increasingly outspoken in promoting agendas of national transformation. Their very acknowledgement of the climate threat can be seen as a sign of the times and a reflection of its seriousness. Their response to it has not been entirely one sided, however, and has combined the ambition to remain relevant and viable in a lower-carbon world, the desire to distance themselves from the opprobrium increasingly associated with hydrocarbon fuels, and an understandable will to preserve if not increase the oil revenues that



to this day make up their economic lifeline.

Until peak demand came to prominence, peak supply postulated that oil supply would quite imminently go into a decline due to a lack of geological resources and/or the greater technical difficulty and cost of producing from unconventional resources. This falling supply would presumably be accompanied by sharply rising prices as demand for oil was expected to keep growing, fueled by population growth and economic development in China and other emerging and industrializing countries. To this day, most of the economics literature on oil and extractive industries continues to hinge on resource scarcity: the idea that oil and mineral resources are finite, nonrenewable, and destined for depletion. The widely used Hotelling rent model, named after American economist Harold Hotelling (1895–1973),³³ calculates commodity prices by walking backward from the theoretical future point when resources will have run out. Likewise, Hubbert's peak, named after American geologist M. King Hubbert who predicted in 1956 that onshore Lower 48 US oil production would head into decline in the 1970s,³⁴ also revolves around the central tenet of production-induced depletion. The implication for oil producers is that the value of their reserves will appreciate over time: to optimize their revenue, producers must rein in supply and leave as much of it as possible for future generations.

Peak supply has always had its critics—even at its zenith around the time in July 2008 when oil prices reached record highs of \$147/barrel for US benchmark West Texas Intermediate.³⁵ Throughout oil history, technological innovation has repeatedly pushed back the expected time when the world would start running out of oil.³⁶ Support for the prediction of imminent peak supply collapsed entirely around 2014, along with oil prices, under the twin impact of the US shale boom and the increasing affordability of renewable fuels. The view has now been made obsolete by technological advances, notably in light tight oil production, and the realization that a vast oil resource base of various types is available at reasonable cost and is much larger than long-range demand projections.

In contrast with peak supply, peak oil demand postulates a fall in oil demand because of key factors including the rise of non-oil technologies (electric vehicles and others); growing efficiency of use; maturing and more service-oriented, slower-growing economies; demographic shifts to slower population growth and aging populations; and environmental and climate policies.

Figure 1 shows various prepandemic long-term oil demand forecasts from government agencies, oil companies, consultants, and nongovernmental organizations.³⁷ Some represent differing scenarios of environmental policy goals. Many forecasters refrain from providing a single forecast of long-term oil demand but resort instead to a scenario approach, highlighting a range of possible demand outcomes based on different sets of assumptions. For example, the IEA in its flagship *World Energy Outlook* has presented a choice of two scenarios, dubbed the Stated Policies (previously New Policies) and Sustainable Development scenarios.³⁸ Shell, BP, and Equinor, to name a few oil companies that publish long-term oil market outlooks, also adopted the scenario approach, which Shell pioneered in the 1970s. (Note that the absolute level of demand varies because of different forecasters' definitions of *oil*.) There is a wide range of forecasts of the level and timing of a peak. Aggressive environmental scenarios show a peak around now, while others have no peak by 2050.





Figure 1: Prepandemic oil demand forecasts

Note: Divergences in historical data are due to forecasts' different definitions and publication dates. Source: See note 39.

These forecasts have been derived on the basis of various assumptions about energy and feedstock demand in the different sectors of the economy, the price of oil, gains in the efficiency of oil use, and the technological and cost development and deployment of competing technologies such as electric vehicles. Some scenarios are in the group of advocacy or at least illustration—what would be required to meet certain climate targets while others are bottom-up constructions based on the growing competitiveness of non-oil



technologies. Ironically, even as a consensus has emerged in principle over the ineluctability of peak oil demand, that looming inflection point has in practice become more elusive. Oil demand growth bounced back from the oil price crash of 2014 and resumed a robust pace of growth, and with it greenhouse gas emissions, until late 2019, when concerns over economic growth, rather than any environmental achievement, took the wind out of its sails.⁴⁰ Oil demand and associated GHG emissions swung into reverse with the onset of COVID-19 in 2020 but look set to resume their growth once the economy recovers. Despite the pandemic's steep blow to the global economy, the resulting loss of oil demand was in fact less severe than initially estimated. The International Energy Agency's forecast of demand suppression in its Oil Market Report of April 2020 substantially overshot, leading the IEA to subsequently shave the loss estimate as reported data trickled through. Pockets of oil demand in certain sectors and geographies—bunker fuels for marine transportation, petrochemical feedstocks, and air and road freight demand-proved surprisingly resilient throughout the pandemic. By the end of 2020, oil demand in China and other developing economies had swung back to levels well over those of the previous year, and by early 2021, some analysts predicted that global oil demand would swing back over 100 million bpd by July 2021.⁴¹ As the world's carbon budget (the amount of permissible emissions giving a reasonable certainty of keeping global temperature rise below a benchmark such as 1.5°C or 2°C) gets ever closer to exhaustion, the climatic imperative to change course becomes ever more pressing. With each passing year, the required downward demand slope becomes steeper—and thus more challenging to achieve.⁴²

Although the specific level and timing of a peak in oil demand are difficult to pin down and remain a matter of debate, the very notion that such a peak will occur sooner or later at some point in the relatively near future—within the next 30 years—has gained broad acceptance, with only a few notable exceptions.⁴³

Of course, excepting changes in storage, which are immaterial in the long term, supply has to equal demand. The distinction between peak supply and peak demand is therefore that peak supply would be accompanied by high and rising prices and economic damage, while in most—though not all—narratives, peak demand would be accompanied by a tendency toward falling prices (depending on the strategic behavior of producers) and strong growth in alternative non-oil technologies and would be compatible with overall robust economic growth.⁴⁴

Nevertheless, demand would of course be expected to fall faster than the trend during recessions, and prices could be very volatile as periods of oversupply intersperse with brief reversals in demand decline, times of underinvestment in a sunset industry, and consequent supply shortfalls. Typical field declines with moderate reinvestment around 3 percent annually would lead to a shortfall of some 50 million barrels per day by 2040 if demand remained flat from 2020 or almost 10 million bpd even versus the IEA's sustainable development scenario. Substantial continuing investment by low-cost producers is therefore likely to be required. In the more recent scenario of the IEA's net-zero report, no new oil or gas field would need to be approved for development from 2020 onward, and by implication there would also be no new exploration; however, currently approved projects would continue, as would reinvestment in existing fields (likely including infill drilling and improved/enhanced recovery).



In the early phases of peak demand, it might be hard to discern the moment of the peak or even that a turning point has been reached, but the underlying secular trend of falling growth would probably be visible for some years beforehand. This would go along with key developments at the margin: for instance, the expansion of truly mass-market electric vehicles and actual, effective bans on oil-fueled transport in some key areas.

Meanwhile, on the supply side, the US shale boom has replaced the scarcity concerns of yesteryear with a perception of endless abundance. Compounding the supply-side effect of the shale revolution, peak demand expectations carry far-reaching implications for oil-producing companies and countries.



IMPLICATIONS FOR PRODUCERS: THE NEED FOR SELF-REINVENTION

While climate change poses an existential threat for mankind, the prospect of peak oil demand associated with climate policies and a changing fuel mix constitutes in its own right another form of existential threat for both oil companies and oil-exporting countries. Faced with the reality of global warming and the prospect of an announced energy "transition" intended to cut GHG emissions and decarbonize the economy, oil companies and petrostates are compelled to transform and reinvent themselves to suit the needs of a cleaner fuel mix and prove their continued relevance as enablers of the transition to a lower-carbon energy system. They can only do so, however, by playing to their competitive advantages, which more often than not are inherently tied to skill sets, assets, and relationships acquired and nurtured over many decades in the very oil sector from which they now must distance themselves.

On the corporate side, investors are increasingly demanding that oil companies account for the risk of stranded assets and other climate impacts and are calling on them to factor the energy transition into their strategic plans.⁴⁵ To address those demands, investor-owned companies can gradually reduce or even liquidate their oil businesses by curtailing or altogether ceasing reinvestment, as BP recently pledged to do, and either shrink into dividend plays or reinvest in gas (which may eventually face a peak of its own) or in renewable or other energies.⁴⁶ This can be a challenging prospect given the required transformation of core competencies. Companies can also opt to engage in joint ventures or make acquisitions of leading-edge new-energy, high-tech companies (in electricity distribution; electric vehicles; batteries; next-generation renewables; advanced biofuels; carbon capture, utilization, and storage [CCUS]; hydrogen; or other related fields) to gain exposure to noncarbon energy and overcome their skill deficits in those spaces.⁴⁷

For most leading national oil companies (NOCs) and oil-exporting states, the challenge is even more acute. Their very businesses and economic models rest on the possession of large, long-life, low-cost oil and gas resources. They cannot easily, or perhaps at all, diversify completely into other industries in the next 10–30 years. Even if they manage large-scale diversification, this will come with heavy demands on their systems of employment, economics, and politics.

For petrostates as for oil companies, concerns over the long-term viability of their financial lifeline compounded the more immediate shock of the 2014 oil price collapse and the subsequent, protracted down cycle in global oil markets, further prolonged by the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic. The 2014 price crash itself came on the heels of the "Arab Spring" of 2011 and was succeeded by further unrest in several regional countries in 2019.⁴⁸ While down cycles in the oil market have often spurred calls for economic diversification in Gulf countries, never before had their concerns reached such a fevered pitch as in the last few years. The Gulf monarchies, which rank among the most oil-revenue-dependent petrostates, managed mostly to escape the political turmoil that swept through the Middle East and North Africa region during the Arab Spring. Since 2014, these petrostates have been among the most forward leaning in acknowledging the need for reinvention. All Gulf governments have issued plans of national transformation that boldly call for diversification, developing a non-oil private sector



spanning manufacturing and services, growth in domestic employment, innovation, reduced oil and energy subsidies, and so on.

Several years after their publication, however, there is considerable daylight between these visionary blueprints and their execution. While significant progress has been achieved on many levels, on others the results have fallen far short of expectations. It would be hard, in particular, to overstate the scope of the transformation intended for Saudi society and politics under King Salman and MBS, which so far has yielded results more on the social⁴⁹ than the economic side.⁵⁰ The UAE's economic diversification began earlier and has proceeded further, though it continues to encounter new challenges alongside successes.

In many ways, it is in their traditional, core oil sectors that some of the most striking developments in Gulf countries have recently taken place. For Gulf petrostates, national reinvention means first and foremost the reinvention of their oil sectors. Even if they ostensibly entail a call for economic diversification and for the end of their "addiction to oil," their national transformation plans do not advocate forsaking the oil sector altogether but rather reimagining or repurposing it. And while the rhetoric has focused on the non-oil sector, the oil sector has not stood still.

In retooling their oil sectors to face the shift to a lower-carbon economy, Gulf states such as Saudi Arabia and Abu Dhabi,⁵¹ and to a lesser extent Oman, Kuwait, and Qatar, can adopt and indeed have largely embraced—a two-pronged approach: on the one hand, a defensive strategy aiming to protect their existing markets and businesses and to encourage growth and/or prevent declines in those markets, referred to here as "demand defense," and on the other hand, an effort to create and promote alternative oil products and markets whose development they hope will offset demand attrition in more traditional sectors, referred to here as "demand creation."

On the supply side, Gulf countries led by Saudi Arabia also appear to be well positioned to win the last-man-standing contest. By engaging in a seemingly ill-timed price war at the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, world top oil exporters Saudi Arabia and Russia compounded the impact of the demand shock, sending prices into a tailspin and driving capital away from higher-cost competitors. The combination of surging supply and plunging consumption pushed oil inventories through the roof, testing storage capacity limits, and at the peak of the lockdowns, briefly sent New York Mercantile Exchange futures prices into negative territory. Whatever the intent of Riyadh and Moscow in starting a price war may have been, the market crash helped slash upstream spending by oil and gas companies⁵² and likely longer-term investment in non-GCC oil and gas, pressured the US into openly endorsing OPEC production cuts,⁵³ and forced a broad restructuring of the governance regime of the oil market. This has left low-cost Gulf producers well positioned to emerge from the downturn relatively unscathed and enjoy the benefit of both recovering oil prices and an expanding market share.⁵⁴

By pushing top producers Saudi Arabia, Russia, and the US to openly join hands for the first time in a shared bid to shore up the market, the price collapse may have to some degree driven a wedge within OPEC and the Gulf alliance, whose role in the governance of the oil market seems somewhat eclipsed by the G3. While Gulf countries share many similarities in terms of the central role of oil in their economies and export and fiscal revenues, they differ



significantly in production volumes and market share. In some ways, Saudi Arabia's market management interests may now be more closely aligned with those of Russia and the US than with those of Kuwait or the UAE. Media reports in November 2020 that Abu Dhabi may have been considering leaving OPEC, less than two years after Qatar's own departure, seem telling in that respect.⁵⁵ Brought closely together in managing the oil market in the five decades since the first oil supply shock of 1973, Gulf countries may find themselves growing apart in the era of peak oil demand and the aftermath of the COVID 19 demand shock. Nevertheless, Saudi Arabia and its Gulf neighbors have abundant reserves, low production costs, and a common interest in ensuring the long-term role of oil in a lower-carbon economy through demand-defense and demand-creation policies even as they undertake steps to diversify their respective economies.



DEMAND DEFENSE

Gulf states can play an important role in shaping the trajectory of global oil demand and the impact and modalities of decarbonization. So far, much of the debate about the impact of peak demand on Gulf producers has taken a decline in oil consumption as an exogenous, uncontrollable event. What has been much less considered is the responses of their oil sectors, in particular their flagship national oil companies; how they can retain and gain market share even with overall declining demand; and how they can influence the level and timing of such a peak in demand—for example, by ensuring that the peak is delayed, that peak demand is higher, or that the postpeak fall in demand is slower. More importantly, what has been lost in the discussion is how these developments can call into question the very dichotomy between peak oil demand and the continued preeminence of the Gulf countries as leading oil producers.

For Gulf producers, dealing with the energy transition can mean fighting for oil's continued relevance as much as preparing for the post-oil economy. Fighting for oil doesn't necessarily mean pushing back against climate policy or denying its urgency but rather riding the decarbonization wave as smoothly as possible and looking for opportunities for oil to support and benefit from the decarbonization agenda—just as Gulf producers have supported and benefited from the growth of the global oil economy over the last 85 years.

Price and Volume Policy

OPEC has, of course, frequently used changes in output to influence prices, generally in a bid to raise the overall level of prices while avoiding sharp spikes that would negatively affect oil demand. Historically, concerted action has typically relied on a sharp price decline, which has overcome members' tendency to "cheat" on quotas, as in 1998, 2008–9, and 2014–16. But success in raising prices to high levels has generally come when markets were already tight and there was robust demand with little countervailing extra supply, as in 1973–4 and 2007–8. OPEC has also less obviously served to restrain members' long-term production growth plans and prevent any single member from making a dash for market share.

One form of long-term price defense lies in the suggestion that in response to limits on fossil fuel/oil consumption imposed by climate policy, major oil exporters could increase production in the short term, accepting lower prices but driving out high-cost competitors and ensuring maximal use of their existing reserves. Arguably, though perhaps for different reasons, OPEC acted in this way in 2014-15. Fattouh and Dale⁵⁶ argue that because of short-term revenue needs, most OPEC states are simply not able to follow such a policy today. Depending on their market share and cost of production, some OPEC member countries may be more inclined to do so than others, however. While Saudi Arabia's price war with Russia at the start of the COVID-19 pandemic has been lambasted by some analysts and commentators as a spectacular blunder or even a suicidal move, it may also be seen as a savvy step to bring downward price pressures to a boil and durably sideline high-cost producers.



Such an approach could be seen simply as a variation on the usual OPEC revenue maximization problem, which consists of trading off lower prices today against higher prices in the future and allowing for a discount rate. With different discount rates and resource endowments, optimal production levels are different for each OPEC member. OPEC policy in the face of peak demand could be viewed similarly but with a much higher price elasticity of demand. Then the Fattouh and Dale conundrum of short-term revenue needs could be represented by a higher discount rate applied to future revenues (though this seems inconsistent with many OPEC states' current easy access to borrowing at low rates).

Instead, OPEC countries from 2016 to 2021 have followed the opposite policy of trying to prop up short-term prices at the cost of both slower demand growth and loss of market share. This may have been partly motivated by the belief that the competition from shale oil would be relatively short lived and, as US shale growth eventually slowed or reversed in the 2020s, that OPEC would regain this market share. The belief that peak demand, if it arrived, would not be soon—more likely in the 2040s or afterward—may also have played a role. OPEC's ability to pursue such a policy until the COVID-19 outbreak hinged on cooperation with Russia, removing the risk of Moscow's further taking market share at its expense, and on political weakness in several OPEC members (notably Venezuela, Libya, and Iran), which has led them to take on much of the burden of overall adjustment involuntarily.

While the pandemic has dealt this approach a setback, which was further exacerbated by the Saudi-Russian price war, demand will eventually bounce from its COVID-19 lows. In April 2020, at a meeting of the Group of Twenty hosted virtually by Saudi Arabia, OPEC, Russia, and other producers, the group agreed on the steepest supply cuts in oil history in a bid to shore up prices. Washington joined Riyadh and Moscow in endorsing the agreement, with then president Trump pledging that the US would help Mexico "pick up some of the slack" to smooth the deal's progress.⁵⁷ As of late February 2021, prices were back above their pre-COVID-19 levels, fueling speculation that a new "supercycle" might be in the offing,⁵⁸ in which demand growth and prices move durably above their long-term averages.

It nevertheless remains the case that the approach of production curbs carries obvious risks in the context of imminent peak oil demand. New competitors—for instance, relatively highcost new deepwater developments, enhanced oil recovery, and shale in areas outside the US could be facilitated. Even as investors, spooked by the recent price collapse and heightened uncertainty around the demand outlook, stayed away from the oil sector, investment into the research, development, and deployment of electric vehicles and other non-oil technologies has been encouraged, as has consumer adoption. Demand decline could begin earlier and from a lower peak.

Even before the COVID-19 pandemic, the scenarios of Equinor⁵⁹ showed a demand peak around 2030–50, with the earlier date giving cumulative world oil demand from 2020 to 2050 as 1,185 billion bbl and the later date giving 1,309 billion bbl. At pre-COVID-19 production rates, the GCC states with Iran and Iraq would produce just 345 billion bbl of this by 2050,⁶⁰ or barely 40 percent of their current reserves, leaving more than half (plus future additions) to be produced in a world well beyond peak production and likely with lower prices or never to be produced at all.



Countries highly dependent on oil imports have concerns about possible geopolitical or cartelrelated reductions in supply and price volatility (usually when prices rise sharply). This has historically been the case for the US, Western Europe, and Japan, and China and India are now in a similar situation. Indeed, the Indian oil minister complained in February that OPEC's production restraint was leading to high prices, and he instructed state refiners to look for alternatives to Saudi crude.⁶¹ Such concerns have led these oil-importing countries to pursue a variety of policies such as the promotion of alternatives including coal, natural gas, renewables, nuclear power, biofuels, synthetic fuels, and electric vehicles; high fuel taxation; vehicle efficiency standards; and public transport. Thus a potential rising market share for OPEC or the Middle Eastern countries creates further reasons for importing countries to cut demand.

Oil's image as a reliable fuel can be bolstered by policies from oil exporters such as clearly communicating future supply policies, avoiding price spikes via the deployment of spare production capacity and storage, working with major importers to develop cooperative relations and build trust, investing in refineries and other oil-consuming industries in importing countries (to give the exporter a stake in a continuing reliable supply), and working with importers to resolve conflicts and avoid supply disruptions in major producing areas. Recent tensions in the Gulf, including a September 2019 missile/drone attack on Saudi Arabia's giant Abgaiq oil processing center, work in exactly the opposite direction. Yet the brief price reaction to the Abgaiq attack was surprisingly benign. Riyadh's deft management of the crisis, the swift recovery of Saudi production, and the dexterity with which national oil company Saudi Aramco reallocated supplies and kept exports running through the disruption helped reassure the market that even a nightmare scenario such as the attack on Abgaiq, the world's largest crude processing facility, could be absorbed.

Climate Policy

For an extended period, some major oil exporters, echoing the approach of some international oil companies, have followed a policy of delay and inaction on climate policy as a method for protecting their perceived interests. That policy has since undergone a sea change.

More recently, some exporters, the UAE being a notable example, have taken a far more constructive position toward climate policy, seeking to support climate action and to guide it in favorable directions (for instance, through support for CCUS). Saudi Arabia's "circular carbon economy" is intended as a paradigm for continuing climate-compatible hydrocarbon use, which was a major part of its net-zero carbon ambition by 2060 presented around the COP26 talks of November 2021.⁶² Such policies could be extended and pursued in collaboration with other fossil fuel-intensive states.⁶³ Successful deployment of CCUS on stationary facilities would have a positive impact on future gas demand but may not do much for oil (except in reducing emissions from upstream production, refining, and petrochemicals). To the extent that it reduces the carbon footprint of oil sands and heavy oil, upstream CCUS might even be seen as defending a competitor to conventional oil.

However, CCUS and other forms of climate action, especially those that target non-oil emissions (coal, fugitive methane, and land-use change) create "carbon space," slowing the rate of using up the remaining carbon budget. That would allow a larger continuing use of oil.



Saudi Arabia in particular has long boasted of the small carbon footprint associated with its oil production, the fruit of policies that drastically curb the flaring and venting practices still so common outside of the GCC. Riyadh argues that its small footprint makes its crude a contender in a lower-carbon economy. Qatar likewise targets providing among the world's lowest-carbon footprint liquefied natural gas (LNG) via efficiency, methane abatement, CCUS, and other methods.⁶⁴ The growing momentum of methane policies in the US and Europe gives credence to this view and could give Saudi, Qatari, and other regional crude and natural gas a competitive advantage, securing their long-term places in a lower-carbon fuel mix.

In October 2020, the European Commission unrolled its Methane Strategy, a set of policies that includes tariffs on oil and gas imports deemed to come with a large methane footprint. In the US, after the Trump government's rollback of Obama-era methane policies, the Biden administration has put methane removal and other green policies at the top of its agenda. On day one of his administration, one of the first executive orders signed by President Biden mandated the Environmental Protection Agency to deliver new methane rules by September 2021.⁶⁵

Renewed policy support for methane abatement comes at a time of great advances in the capacity of new remote sensing technologies to detect, measure, and attribute methane emissions. This newfound transparency opens the possibility of benchmarking fossil fuel producers and ranking their output by methane intensity.

Saudi Arabia has long argued that its crude oil not only enjoys some of the world's lowest production costs but also record low methane emissions. Earth-observation company Kayrros has been tracking methane emissions worldwide since 2019.⁶⁶ Its findings support Riyadh's claim. While hundreds of superemitters were detected in Turkmenistan, Russia, Algeria, the US, and other countries, virtually none were found in Saudi Arabia and its GCC neighbors.

Aside from methane abatement, biosequestration, carbon dioxide (CO₂) mineralization, direct capture of carbon dioxide from ambient air (or direct air capture [DAC]),⁶⁷ bioenergy with carbon capture and storage (CCS), or some equivalent technology is needed in most climate models to achieve the 1.5°C or 2°C targets. Large-scale deployment of carbon-negative technologies would allow the continuing use of oil in applications where CCUS is not feasible (for instance, aviation). Some recent research suggests DAC costs could be reasonable⁶⁸ in comparison to zero-emission technologies, falling in the range of \$94-\$232 per ton of CO₂ (equivalent to \$40-\$100 per barrel of crude oil, \$0.84-\$2.06 per gallon of gasoline,⁶⁹ or \$200-\$500 extra on a London-New York return economy class flight,⁷⁰ a stiff but not impossible level for carbon taxation⁷¹).

In June 2019, Occidental Petroleum partnered with Carbon Engineering, a Canadian startup, to build a 0.5 million ton per year DAC plant, using the CO₂ for enhanced oil recovery, to be operational by 2022.⁷² The financial viability of this is greatly assisted by California's lowcarbon fuel standard, which credits trade at \$160 per ton, and the recent 45Q tax credit of \$35 per ton offered in the US for CCUS. Carbon Engineering CEO Steve Oldham has put the project's cost at much less than \$200 per ton.

However DAC's feasibility on a large scale⁷³ and at reasonable cost is yet to be demonstrated. Major oil exporters could, for a relatively small investment, assist in the demonstration of DAC. This could be particularly interesting for those with mature fields (such as Oman, Qatar, and



Bahrain) or where the injected CO_2 would replace natural gas for reinjection (as in the UAE, Algeria, and Iran).

Transport Fuels: Efficiency and Mobile CCUS

Improved vehicle fuel efficiency has generally been seen as decreasing oil demand. However, by reducing the effective cost of travel and its environmental impacts, it has served to maintain growing demand for oil in the long term. This becomes more salient when comparing an internal combustion engine (ICE) running on gasoline or diesel (or natural gas) with an electric vehicle.

Fuel efficiency has been promoted by government policies including efficiency standards (Figure 2) and fuel taxation. EU standards, for instance, will result in a gain in overall light vehicle fleet efficiency from 6.9 liters per 100 kilometers (km) in 2000 to 4.14 liters per 100 km in 2021. This also raises the cost of vehicles.⁷⁴ The Volkswagen emissions scandal of 2015⁷⁵ and growing concern over diesel-related pollution in major European cities has made it increasingly unlikely that mileage targets can be reached using diesel engines.



Figure 2: Efficiency standards, cars (normalized to Corporate Average Fuel Economy standards)

Source: Data from Lew Fulton and Sheila Watson, eds., "Vehicle Efficiency and Electrification: A Global Status Report," Global Fuel Economy Initiative, 2020, <u>https://www.globalfueleconomy.org/media/791561/gfei-global-status-report-2020.pdf</u>.



One leading NOC, Saudi Aramco, is investing in the competitiveness and cleanliness of ICEs. Similar efforts have not been identified for other major NOCs, whether from the Gulf or elsewhere.

Saudi Aramco's research center in Detroit is developing, in partnership with Mazda, compression ignition engines that run on gasoline (instead of diesel, as usual),⁷⁶ with a potential improvement from 30 to 40 percent efficiency (equivalent in the example above of 6.9 liters per 100 km falling to 5.2 liters per 100 km, the EU standard in 2013). It has a research partnership with FAW Group Corporation, one of China's largest automakers, and Chambroad Petrochemicals on cleaner engines and fuels.⁷⁷ Another design Aramco is researching uses opposed pistons for a truck engine with almost twice the mileage of a conventional gasoline engine⁷⁸ and is able to run on gasoline or diesel. These engines are also intended to be simpler to manufacture and lighter and smaller than traditional engines.

Of course, these engines still have to demonstrate that they can meet emissions standards and offer reliability, good performance, and reasonable cost. Major oil exporters could also invest in more conventional methods of improving fuel efficiency (incremental engine improvements, reducing weight and drag, reducing auxiliary consumption, hybridization, etc.), which have boosted mileage about 2 percent annually since 2005. Although it seems generally assumed that autonomous vehicles, when widespread, will be battery powered, autonomous ICE vehicles might also be able to realize improved efficiency via better driving styles and route planning. It may be notable that Aramco is working with two start-up firms, Achates Power and INNengine, on the opposed piston engines, rather than with incumbent automakers, many of which have switched their research and development attention to electric vehicles (and in Toyota's case, hydrogen⁷⁹). These efforts have been underway for at least 10 years, suggesting caution as to how soon they might appear in commercial vehicles.

A major improvement in ICE efficiency would defend oil demand in the transport sector in two ways: it would extend the competitiveness and environmental acceptability of ICEs versus electric vehicles, and it would lower the cost of transport and thus increase demand for mobility overall. As a simple illustration, using a long-run elasticity of vehicle miles traveled to fuel price⁸⁰ of -0.71,⁸¹ as found for the US, the improvement in efficiency from 30 to 40 percent would boost vehicle miles traveled by 18 percent. The combined effect is that fuel consumption would drop 12 percent, and an overall gain in consumption would therefore rely on defending the ICE's market share against battery vehicles. However, the effect might be different in emerging markets with high sensitivity to fuel costs, where elasticity might be greater than 1.

With an increasingly light crude output slate (due to shale oil and to natural gas liquids, or NGLs, and condensate derived from growing natural gas production), there is also a benefit in boosting gasoline demand from the light fraction of the barrel versus diesel. This would be part of the attraction of a gasoline compression-ignition engine.

Another approach being taken by Aramco is to improve the environmental acceptability of the ICE by pioneering onboard CCS, which could be applied to cars, ships, and trains to reduce CO_2 emissions (and probably other pollutants). Aramco states its technology can cut CO_2 by 25 percent, with a target for a 50 percent reduction.⁸² In December 2019, it unveiled a



Class 8 heavy truck with a laboratory capture of rate over 40 percent.⁸³ Given the reduction in engine efficiency and the need to carry around a tank of CO₂ until it can be discharged, application to ships, trains, and trucks may seem more likely than to light vehicles. (Aramco has demonstrated it on a midsize passenger vehicle, a pickup truck, and a heavy-duty truck.) The reduced efficiency and the extra bulk and cost of the system would also make the ICE-CCS vehicle less competitive against a battery vehicle, while it is still far from eliminating emissions entirely.

These research efforts appear to concentrate mostly on ICE ground transport, including light passenger vehicles and heavy commercial vehicles, and are possibly also applicable to buses and diesel rail. There do not seem to be significant similar efforts relating to marine and aviation transport, though onboard CCS for shipping would seem more feasible.⁸⁴

The implementation in January 2020 of new International Maritime Organization (IMO) regulations steeply reducing sulfur emissions from marine fuel, and subsequent regulations expected in 2023 to reduce CO₂ emissions from the shipping fleet (immediate reductions leading to a cut of at least 50 percent in total shipping GHG emissions by 2050 and eventual total decarbonization⁸⁵), create a further threat to oil demand in this sector. Compliant lowsulfur fuel meeting the IMO 2020 standards—whether marine gasoil or very-low-sulfur fuel oil-trades at a premium to the high-sulfur fuel oil bunkers that previously made up the bulk of the marine fuel market. For new-build vessels at least, many shipowners are opting to install scrubbers (which remove sulfur oxides from flue gas) or use ships that run on LNG. For major oil exporters who are not also leading gas exporters, scrubbers clearly seem to be the solution of choice. Alternatively, they can invest in refinery upgrades for fuel oil desulfurization and/or to boost marine gasoil (middle distillate) yields in preference to residual fuel oil. In fact, new refining capacity brought online in the last few years in Saudi Arabia (including the 440,000 bpd joint-venture SATORP refinery with Total in Jubail, opened in 2014 and expanded in 2018, and the 400,000 bpd YASREF joint-venture plant with Sinopec in Yanbu, operational since late 2014/early 2015) is targeted toward diesel output, though shipping was not the primary intended market. The 400,000 bpd Jazan refinery, which was completed in October 2019 and started up on a limited basis in 2021, will produce IMO-compliant low-sulfur bunker fuels.⁸⁶ In the longer term, batteries will compete for short-range shipping, and possibly hydrogen, biofuels, ammonia,⁸⁷ or other synthetic fuels for long range,⁸⁸ with auxiliaries such as sails doubling as solar panels.89

Extending the cost-effectiveness of oil-burning engines would still leave fossil fuel oil open to competition from other liquid fuels with lower or zero net CO₂ emissions, including natural gas-to-liquids, synthetic fuels made from captured carbon dioxide,⁹⁰ and biofuels.

Power Generation

Oil has largely been squeezed out of utility-scale power generation, supplying just 3 percent of world generation in 2018.⁹¹ The (utility-scale) power sector accounted for about 4.3 million bpd of demand in 2018, which is forecast to fall to 2.9 million bpd by 2040 in the IEA's New Policies scenario (now Stated Policies),⁹² and most remaining oil-fired power generation is with major oil producers, often at subsidized prices.⁹³ This estimate, however, does not



account for distributed power generation, such as off-grid, backup, diesel- or gasolinefired generators ("gensets"), often ubiquitous in emerging economies to offset the gaps, intermittency, or low quality of grid electricity and increasingly used in developed economies as backup for data servers or to deal with the intermittency of distributed renewable generation. Overall, oil in power is currently expensive, generally undesirable from an environmental standpoint, and faces strong competition from natural gas, coal, renewables (combined with batteries for off-grid or backup roles), and possibly nuclear power. Even the countries still using large quantities of oil in their power plants—notably Saudi Arabia, Kuwait, and Iraq—plan to phase it out in favor of gas and renewables.

However, oil is a relatively cleaner and lower-carbon fuel than coal. Oil products (diesel) burn efficiently in combined-cycle turbines. Oil-burning power plants can be fitted with CCS. Oil is a convenient, easily stored, and energy-dense fuel, convenient for backup power despite its high cost relative to alternative fuels.

If oil demand falls sharply, the price of oil might drop below that of LNG, and it might even become a more desirable fuel than coal in many markets. This provides a likely backstop for residual heavy fuel oil (as its use in shipping is phased out by the IMO regulations). This would be at a low price, though, perhaps in the range of \$20 per barrel on an energyequivalent basis.



DEMAND CREATION

Beside the opportunities to grow or limit the reduction of their traditional oil markets, Gulf oil producers have also been looking for opportunities to tap into new businesses, including both new geographies and new sectors and products.

Petrochemicals

Major oil producers are already betting on petrochemicals as their big hope for sustaining oil demand.⁹⁴ Emerging economies are much more leveraged to petrochemicals demand growth than to fuels, with petrochemicals demand rising at one to two times the rate of gross domestic product, depending on the product. Since 1971, plastics have been the fastest growing of the main bulk materials: with 5.5 percent compound annual growth rate compared to 4.4 percent for cement, 3.7 percent for aluminum, 2.9 percent for ammonia (mostly fertilizers), and 2.4 percent for steel.⁹⁵ Demand growth has, if anything, accelerated during the COVID-19 pandemic due to the increased consumption of physical goods, including medical supplies. Figure 3 shows the main areas of demand for plastics.



Figure 3: Plastics use by sector

Source: Data from Nexant as used in Aphinya Khanunthong, "Industry Outlook 2020–2022: Petrochemicals," Krungsri, June 10, 2020, <u>https://www.krungsri.com/en/research/industry/industry-outlook/Petrochemicals/Petrochemicals/10/io-petrochemicals-20</u>.



Saudi Aramco and Kuwait Petroleum Corporation, more recently joined by the Abu Dhabi National Oil Company (ADNOC),⁹⁶ have been particular advocates of the petrochemical-focused approach. To improve competitiveness and efficiency, new petrochemical plants are typically integrated with refineries, as with ADNOC's Ruwais expansion and Saudi Aramco's Petro Rabigh, Rapid (a joint venture refinery in Malaysia with Petronas), and a joint venture with Indian state firms, which ADNOC has joined and is planned for Raigad in Maharashtra. In August 2019, Aramco was in discussions to buy 20 percent of the integrated refining and petrochemicals business of India's Reliance Industries,⁹⁷ though this has not yet been consummated.

Aramco and Saudi Basic Industries Corporation (SABIC; now 70 percent owned by Aramco) were seeking to ensure the competitiveness of Saudi oil for petrochemicals by pioneering a giant crude-to-chemicals plant, costing \$20 billion, to be built in Yanbu' on the Saudi Red Sea coast. This is the logical next step from refinery integration, intended to cut capital costs by 30 percent, and has a conversion rate to chemicals of 45 percent, turning 400,000 bpd of crude input into 200,000 bpd of diesel and 9 million tons of chemicals and base oils.⁹⁸ Only one similar, much smaller, plant exists worldwide, operated by ExxonMobil in Singapore. However, like the Raigad and Reliance investments, the plant is now in question due to capital expenditure cuts by Aramco.⁹⁹

Of course, where these plants are developed is also important. SABIC has sought to expand into the US, but plants there would run on American shale oil and gas feedstock, and into China for coal-to-chemicals plants. Except to the extent that they might soak up some hydrocarbons that otherwise would have been exported, these investments encourage rather than reduce competition to major oil exporters. Most new Middle Eastern refining and petrochemicals investments, though, are targeted at Asia,¹⁰⁰ the main growth market and one with limited and declining indigenous hydrocarbons.

Plastic consumption in developed countries is around 55–80 kilograms (kg) per capita per year (generally saturating around 60 kg/capita/year), while developing countries may be as low as 4 kg/capita/year.¹⁰¹

Considering some large developing countries that are currently consuming 33.4 million tons per year of plastics, Figure 4 shows how rising to the current Russian level (41.1 kg/capita/ year) would add 66.6 megatons/year of consumption, mostly in India, and reaching Chinese levels of 66.5 kg/capita/year would add another 61.8 megatons/year, again with more than half in India. The Indian potential is no surprise (it is just 12.4 kg/capita/year currently), but the potential for growth in populous sub-Saharan African countries with very low usage levels today is also significant and less targeted by investors and marketers. For instance, almost 100 million people in fast-growing Ethiopia use just 2.6 kg/capita/year of plastics today.





Figure 4: Illustrative potential for growth in plastics consumption from nine major emerging economies

Note: Data do not cover some potentially large consuming developing countries, such as Bangladesh. Source: Data from EUROMAP, "Plastics Resin Production and Consumption in 63 Countries Worldwide," October 2016, <u>http://www.pagder.org/images/files/euromappreview.pdf</u>.

If major oil exporters are seeking guaranteed outlets in mature markets, they could buy existing refineries and petrochemical plants, given the tendency for the supermajors to divest. Aramco restructured its Motiva joint venture with Shell in 2017¹⁰² to take full control of the Port Arthur refinery in Texas, the largest in the US, and it already owns 15 percent of Showa Shell in Japan. Motiva subsequently entered into a deal with Koch Industries unit Flint Hills to acquire a petrochemical plant at Port Arthur.¹⁰³ Algeria's Sonatrach bought the 190,000 bpd Augusta refinery in Italy from ExxonMobil in May 2018¹⁰⁴ (though this was more to provide for its own domestic market). However, such an approach risks acquiring large liabilities and expanding exposure to slow-growing or shrinking markets.

Targeting petrochemicals also raises questions of competitors for feedstock. US shale crude and condensate (and possibly other shale basins that may be developed in the future), as well as natural gas producers with by-product ethane and NGLs, are large and often lowcost suppliers. The typically medium-gravity crudes of Middle Eastern OPEC countries and Russia can produce some naphtha (light hydrocarbon) feed for petrochemicals. However, such crudes are better suited to produce middle distillates (diesel/gasoil or kerosene/jet fuel). These are likely to be higher-margin uses once aviation recovers from the COVID-19 pandemic



because the middle distillate available may be squeezed by an excess of light crude feedstock (yielding more naphtha and gasoline), and there will be extra demand from the shipping industry for marine gasoil (a similar fuel to diesel) following the IMO 2020 ban on the use of high-sulfur fuel oil.

The other key issue is whether petrochemical demand growth will be as strong as anticipated. Single-use plastics, particularly packaging, are facing a backlash in developed-country markets because of concerns over waste and pollution.¹⁰⁵ This is leading to bans on plastic bags and replacement by reusable or recyclable materials. Fifty-five percent of polyethylene and 30 percent of polypropylene is used in packaging; they account for 153 million tons of demand in 2015 (compared to a total demand for basic chemicals of about 450 million tons in that year¹⁰⁶). Only 18 percent of plastic worldwide is recycled, but various companies, including Coca-Cola, PepsiCo, and Unilever, have targets to reuse or recycle all of their packaging by 2025-30.¹⁰⁷ Various processes are under development to convert waste plastics to liquid fuels,¹⁰⁸ which could lead to a faster decline in primary crude oil demand.

Petrochemicals producers can respond by developing more recyclable products and promoting recycling facilities and policies, which would protect their market but reduce primary material inputs and hence demand. Or they could introduce more biodegradable products. If these new products incorporate more nonfossil feedstocks, such as biomaterials or synthetics made from captured CO_2 , they will improve environmental acceptability but still reduce growth in oil demand from the petrochemical sector. For instance, Saudi Aramco is working on using waste CO_2 in combination with hydrocarbon feedstock to produce superior-performance polyols (organic chemicals used to make foam, fibers, sealants, adhesives, and other materials) with up to 42 percent CO_2 by weight.¹⁰⁹

Accenture estimates that recycling and plastic bans could cut petrochemical demand growth to 1.5 percent annually, less than one-third of historical levels.¹¹⁰ McKinsey estimates 1 percent instead of 4 percent annual growth with reuse rising from 12 percent of plastics currently to 50 percent by 2030,¹¹¹ and BP's single-use plastics ban scenario would cut liquid feedstocks by 6.1 million bpd by 2040 versus its base case of 107.7 million bpd total demand.¹¹²

Nonmetallic Materials

Given the factors of market maturity and environmental pressures mentioned above, sustaining petrochemical demand growth requires creating new bulk markets.

Saudi Aramco has been developing petrochemical-based nonmetallic materials that can replace metals in certain applications. This includes polyacetal (polyoxymethylene), a thermoplastic, for which global demand is expected to reach 1.6 million tons annually by 2023.¹¹³ SABIC opened a joint-venture polyacetal plant in Jubail in January 2018.¹¹⁴

Aramco has begun replacing its oil and some of its natural gas flow lines with reinforced thermoplastic pipe (RTP) to reduce corrosion, and it has also proved to be quicker and safer to install than traditional steel pipe. RTP is made from high-density polyethylene and polyethylene of raised temperature resins reinforced with glass fiber, glass fiber-reinforced epoxy laminate, aramid fiber (aromatic polyamide), steel strip, and steel cord.¹¹⁵ These



materials depend on petrochemical precursors including ethylene, propylene, and benzene. The Middle East's use of RTP is expected by Aramco to increase from 2,523 km in 2018 to 5,257 km in 2030.¹¹⁶

Carbon fiber is another increasingly important material for high-performance racing cars, boats, bikes, sports equipment, body armor, aerospace technologies, wind turbine blades, and drones, with an estimated growth of 10–12 percent annually over the next few years.¹¹⁷ It is five times stronger than steel for half the weight, as well as being noncorroding. The Boeing 787 Dreamliner is almost half carbon fiber, totaling 23 tons. Carbon fiber is not yet widely used for conventional cars, but that could change as factories retool, with pressure for lightness and fuel efficiency. It is primarily (90 percent) made from polyacrylonitrile, itself produced via acrylonitrile from propylene. But global carbon fiber demand of a projected 117,000 tons in 2022¹¹⁸ represents only a modest market. Most acrylonitrile (6 million tons worldwide output) is used for acrylonitrile butadiene styrene, a common thermoplastic. Graphene and carbon nanotubes also have unique properties and interesting applications in medicine, electronics, membranes, batteries, corrosion-resistant coatings, and other areas and are currently mostly made from hydrocarbons,¹¹⁹ but they are expensive and made in very small quantities (with a forecast of 3,800 tons of graphene worldwide by 2023). They can also be synthesized from nonhydrocarbons (such as atmospheric CO₂).

Nonmetallic materials may find further applications if combined with 3D printing (additive manufacturing). So far, applications to hostile environments (high temperatures and acids) are limited by the endurance of the glues rather than the thermoplastic.¹²⁰ Developing, certifying, and marketing new products is likely to be a lengthy and intensive process.

Despite their advantages, nonmetallic materials will face new challenges from advanced metallic products, which are also under development and include ultralightweight structures and custom dissolvable metals.

Bulk uses of petrochemicals that would represent a volumetrically significant market would probably have to compete with construction, structural, and industrial materials such as steel, aluminum, concrete, and wood. For instance, there is some room for growth in rubber, where an estimated 14.0 million tons of synthetic rubber and 12.4 million tons of natural rubber were produced in 2020.¹²¹ Saudi Aramco established a synthetic rubber joint venture, Arlanxeo, in 2016¹²² and took full control of it in late 2018.

As an illustration, Figure 5 shows the market size and price for some major construction and industrial materials, including the main polymer types. Oil is, by mass, the most used material worldwide (excluding coal and lower-grade construction materials such as brick, sand, and road aggregate). Of course, most of this oil (about 84 percent¹²³) is used as fuel. But to absorb a significant amount of oil use, an alternative material must have high potential for replacement or a very large market size. For instance, the entire world market for primary aluminum is equal to about 1.5 percent of the oil market by mass. This is a crude comparison because oil-derived polymers do not have to replace other materials at a 1:1 mass ratio, but it is illustrative of the required orders of magnitude.

Some materials used in large quantities, such as cement and steel, have prices lower per ton, or only a little higher, than oil, and so are likely to remain preferred unless the performance of



the oil-based alternative is far superior. Polymers might be environmentally superior where they replace energy/ CO_2 -intensive materials such as steel, aluminum, cement, and bricks or where their light weights reduce energy consumption in transportation and use.



Figure 5: Price and market size of major polymers and other materials

Source: See note 124.

Hydrogen

Hydrogen has been advanced as a possible energy carrier that could be used, for instance, to store energy (including variable renewable energy at times of surplus), to fuel vehicles (ground transport, planes, and ships), and as a clean supplement or replacement for natural gas, particularly in home heating and cooking. Hydrogen is typically produced by steam reforming of natural gas from coal (mostly in China¹²⁵) or is more expensively produced by the electrolysis of water ("green" hydrogen). Kawasaki Heavy Industries is currently working with Australian utility AGL Energy to trial the production of hydrogen from Victoria's large lignite (brown coal) resources.¹²⁶ The production of hydrogen from oil, natural gas, or coal is not low carbon unless combined with carbon capture and storage (which is relatively readily done) to yield "blue" hydrogen. ADNOC and Aramco have, especially since late 2020, begun developing strategies and projects for blue hydrogen or derivatives such as blue ammonia,¹²⁷ while other entities in the Gulf are aiming to progress green hydrogen ventures. Perhaps surprisingly given its low-cost gas resources, Qatar has not yet announced any advanced plans in hydrogen.



Hydrogen can be produced from oil, with CCS to sequester CO_2 emissions. This could be competitive with production from natural gas or coal if the oil price were sufficiently low. This represents another potential backstop for oil use. Saudi Aramco has begun piloting hydrogen fueling stations with hydrogen delivered by truck or generated on-site from heavy naphtha, liquefied petroleum gas (LPG), or natural gas.¹²⁸ In March 2021, it signed an agreement with Hyundai Oilbank to provide LPG that would be reformed to hydrogen in South Korea, with the resultant CO_2 shipped back to Saudi Arabia for sequestration.¹²⁹

New Geographies and Sectors

Most peak-oil demand scenarios envision continued growth in oil demand in the emerging and developing economies of South and Southeast Asia and sub-Saharan Africa, offset by contraction in more mature markets in Europe, North America, and Northeast Asia. Producing countries, including those in the Gulf, have been aggressively investing to lock in downstream (refining and petrochemical) capacity in Asia.

Aramco has a number of longer-established joint ventures in the mature markets of Japan and South Korea. For some time, though, China has been the focus. Aramco agreed in 2007 to triple the capacity of its Fujian refinery with ExxonMobil and Sinopec. It has held talks to develop a refining and petrochemical complex with defense conglomerate Norinco in the northeastern city of Panjin and to acquire 9 percent of Zhejiang Petrochemical, which operates an 800,000 bpd refinery in Zhoushan, south of Shanghai. Long talks with PetroChina for a refinery in the southeastern province of Yunnan appear to have led nowhere.¹³⁰ As with its ventures in India, discussed above, new business in China may be hampered by Aramco's capital expenditure constraints.

Other Gulf countries have not been as active or successful in establishing a Chinese presence, though ADNOC has looked into refining partnerships with China National Offshore Oil Corporation¹³¹ and Wanhua.¹³² Aramco and Kuwait Petroleum have given up on joint refineries in Indonesia,¹³³ but Kuwait's Nghi Son refinery (a partnership with Idemitsu and PetroVietnam) started up in 2018.¹³⁴ Abu Dhabi, through Mubadala, owns 40 percent of the Pak-Arab Refinery in Karachi, Pakistan, and is considering a 250,000 bpd greenfield refinery at Gwadar,¹³⁵ though this would probably be export oriented.

Investments in the Indian subcontinent, expected to overtake China in oil demand growth, accelerated in 2019 before the pandemic, and a rethink on spending plans slowed progress again more recently. Thus in August 2019, Aramco discussed taking a 20 percent share in Indian refining and petrochemical giant Reliance Industries in a deal that would see Reliance buy up to 500,000 bpd of crude oil from Aramco, more than double its current Saudi imports.¹³⁶ In September 2019, Aramco also completed the acquisition of Shell's 50 percent share in their SASREF joint venture in Jubail Industrial City,¹³⁷ on the kingdom's eastern coast, which is well placed to reach Indian and other Asian markets. As noted above, in 2019, Saudi Aramco and Abu Dhabi's ADNOC announced a planned 1.2 million bpd, 18 million ton/year joint-venture, grassroots refinery and petrochemical plant in the Indian state of Maharashtra, south of Mumbai, alongside domestic refiners Indian Oil Corporation, Bharat Petroleum, and Hindustan Petroleum.¹³⁸ Two years earlier, Russia's Rosneft had teamed up with global trading



Trafigura and Russian fund UCP to buy a 98.26 percent stake in Reliance's Indian rival Essar Oil, since renamed Nayara Energy,¹³⁹ apparently beating out competition from Aramco.¹⁴⁰ ADNOC has also agreed to store oil in India's strategic stocks, giving a measure of supply and demand security to both sides. With India likely to be the world's leading source of oil demand growth after the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic are overcome, it is likely that India will return as a key focus for Gulf NOCs. MBS's April 2021 mention of a sale of a further 1 percent of Aramco to an investor from a large oil-consuming country¹⁴¹ could have referred to China or India.

The flow of investment has run both ways, with Abu Dhabi in particular awarding equity stakes in oil and gas fields to a variety of Chinese, South Korean, Thai, and Indian firms, along with the traditional European, Japanese, and American partners. This may also be a way to ensure preferential access for Gulf hydrocarbons to those markets. As shown by these examples, Aramco, ADNOC, and to some extent Kuwait Petroleum Corporation have been the most active in downstream Asian investments, in line with their oil outputs; Oman, Qatar, and Bahrain have been mostly inactive.

In these areas, though, Gulf countries are investing in countries that already have substantial petroleum use and infrastructure and robust growth. For demand creation, rather than demand capture, one would have to look elsewhere. Many countries, and large populations within certain countries, mostly in Africa and parts of South Asia, live in energy poverty and are reliant on traditional fuels, namely animal dung, gathered wood, and charcoal. These produce poor-quality energy, result in serious indoor and outdoor air pollution, contribute to deforestation and desertification, and require exhausting, low-productivity labor to collect.

Small amounts of modern fuels, enough to run a stove, heating (where the climate requires), lighting, and some motorized transport (for instance, a motorcycle taxi) dramatically improve health, quality of life, and economic opportunity. Some of these needs can increasingly be supplied by modern cookstoves, solar cookers, and solar or other renewable microgrids with battery backup. However there is still considerable potential for increased demand for LPG and kerosene (for cooking and lighting) and diesel and gasoline (for generators and motor transport). Even in small quantities per person, these can add up to sizeable extra demand. If modern energy substitutes for unsustainably harvested biomass, it can have a positive environmental and climate impact.

Larger-scale demand can be generated by the development of local industries (bricks, cement, and agricultural processing) and improved transport networks for road, rail, shipping, and, with rising incomes, air travel.





Figure 6: Extra demand from large countries

Source: Authors' calculations based on data from The World Bank, "Population, total," <u>https://data.</u> worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.TOTL.

Figure 6 shows the extra demand that would be created if oil demand were to reach 5 barrels per year per person, about the level of Mexico, in large countries—countries shown would gain 0.5 million bpd each or more in demand by reaching that level. For example, China currently consumes 3.3 bbl/year/person, India 1.26 bbl/year/person, Bangladesh 0.32 bbl/year/person, and the Democratic Republic of Congo 0.13 bbl/day/person. Excluding China and India, the countries in Figure 6 total a potential 16 million bpd of extra demand.

Although not shown on the chart, some midsize landlocked African countries also have room for quite significant gains in demand—for instance, Uganda consumes only 0.22 bbl/ year/person, Niger 0.21, Mali 0.14, and Chad 0.05. In these cases, consumption may be partly constrained by lack of infrastructure and ready fuel availability, with the delivered price of fuel being high because of difficult logistics.

These markets have to be examined in individual detail, of course. In some, economic and oil demand growth is hampered by structural factors, corruption, incumbents, and insecurity. Congestion in densely populated countries such as Bangladesh may constrain mass take-up of personal cars. Local oil production may be sufficient to meet domestic needs, as in countries such as Chad, Niger, and Uganda, in which case increased demand may not translate into increased need for imports. Oil-exporting states do not have the financial and organizational



resources alone to transform countries where the broader international community has worked for decades.

Nevertheless, the provision of local oil refineries and fuel distribution infrastructure (trucking, pipelines, storage tanks and depots, and retail stations), marine fueling stations, LPG distribution, and better road, marine port, airport, and rail networks would support demand growth for fuel, asphalt, and lubricants.

This should be an opportunity for cooperation with China, given its well-known strengths in construction and infrastructure.¹⁴² This applies to Africa and to countries along China's Belt and Road Initiative (BRI), such as Pakistan, Afghanistan, Tajikistan, and Uzbekistan. The BRI stresses transport, trade, and connectivity, including roads, rail lines, ports, airports, pipelines, and electricity grids. Alternatively, the October 2019 global infrastructure partnership between the EU and Japan,¹⁴³ backed by €60 billion of European money, may be appropriate for Africa, though it's unlikely that projects overtly targeted at hydrocarbon use would be supported.¹⁴⁴

Of course, some of these investments would also support greater use of non-oil transport using natural gas or electricity. Oil-exporting countries would therefore want to be sure that their investments in transport infrastructure were commercially viable in their own right and not solely predicated on boosting oil demand.

In the transport space, some emerging new technologies can support oil demand. For instance, ride-hailing services such as Uber have been linked to a drop in public transport ridership: for every year after they enter a market, rail ridership drops by 1.3 percent and bus ridership 1.7 percent.¹⁴⁵ Autonomous vehicles, if not electric, would probably boost demand in the long run by making road transport safer, easier, and open to a wider group of users. Drones, air taxis,¹⁴⁶ hypersonic flight, and space travel are more speculative but also offer the possibility of greatly expanded travel that is at least in some part fueled by oil.¹⁴⁷

Saudi Arabia's Public Investment Fund has invested in Uber¹⁴⁸ and expressed interest in investing \$1 billion in Virgin Galactic, a space tourism venture, though founder Richard Branson suspended talks after the murder of Jamal Khashoggi.¹⁴⁹ King Abdulaziz City for Science and Technology is said to have funded a Ukrainian hypersonic spaceplane project for launching satellites.¹⁵⁰ The Public Investment Fund, though, also has a stake in Tesla (most of which it sold, however, in late 2019),¹⁵¹ and there is no sign its investments were part of any strategy to boost oil demand rather than being commercial deals and/or part of attempts to diversify its economy toward high tech. If anything, Uber likely acts more as a hedge against future transport trends if it moves to autonomous and electric vehicles.



IMPLICATIONS

With the exception of demand creation in Africa and other low energy-consuming countries, these strategies are already well into implementation by at least some of the leading NOCs. If put into practice on a large scale, they could have significant implications in global energy markets, for climate, and for the risks undertaken by the countries and companies.

Competition

It's likely that only select GCC countries (for oil, really Saudi Arabia, the UAE, and perhaps Kuwait) have the combination of large resources, relative political stability, and long-term outlook to give them both the ability and the incentive to pursue such ambitious strategies to cope with peak oil demand.

Countries that are both large oil and gas exporters will wish to preserve markets for both these fuels. They compete in some markets—largely petrochemicals, to a small but growing extent in transport, and in the past (and perhaps again in the future) in power generation. This most obviously applies to Qatar and Russia. In the case of Qatar, its gas reserves and exports are much more important than its crude oil, which is in decline, but condensate and NGLs are major sources of revenues. For Russia, its gas reserves are about twice its oil in energy equivalence, and of course are lower carbon in end use, but net oil exports are about 2.5 times larger than net gas exports, and it earns much more from its oil exports than gas exports.

Major oil producers that are currently not significant gas exporters do have ambitions to expand their gas exports, either from domestic resources, international projects, or a combination of both. This applies particularly to Abu Dhabi¹⁵² and Saudi Arabia.¹⁵³ If achieved, or even if domestic gas output supplied to industry increases, this becomes a more effective diversification. It would be following in the footsteps of international oil companies such as Shell, BP, Total, and Equinor.¹⁵⁴

Climate

A policy of sustaining oil demand obviously raises difficult climate questions. To the extent that it is offset by climate policy elsewhere (see Section 5.2), the effect would be neutral. Oil that is converted into durable plastics or other products,¹⁵⁵ combusted with CCUS, or offset by DAC or biosequestration does not contribute to net CO₂ emissions.

But newly created oil demand in transport or much of the power sector will contribute to carbon dioxide emissions; it is much more carbon intensive than natural gas, though less than coal (estimated life cycle emissions factors are 0.305 tons CO_2 /megawatt-hour [MWh] for diesel, 0.393 tons/MWh for coal, and 0.237 tons/MWh for natural gas¹⁵⁶). Such transport emissions could be offset by land-use changes, direct air capture, or carbon-negative CCS using biomass. But except for aviation and perhaps some shipping, this is likely to be more costly than zero-emissions transport (battery vehicles and electric rail).



It thus appears inescapable that a policy of encouraging higher oil demand would lead to higher CO₂ emissions, particularly in the near term (and potentially necessitating a faster decline in overall emissions thereafter). This is likely to draw strong opposition in international climate negotiations; from environmental organizations and many international investors, financial institutions, and tourists; and, the authors assume, even from a growing number of policy makers within the oil-exporting countries themselves.

Causing carbon emissions to increase would in turn expose GCC oil producers to a number of risks, including trade restrictions or even boycotts, as well as raise the impact of climate change overall. This in turn is likely to damage a number of leading oil-exporting countries through factors such as drought and desertification, the flooding of low-lying coastal areas (including important energy facilities), the loss of fisheries, heat waves, political destabilization, and refugee flows.

Therefore any policy of encouraging oil demand would have to be accompanied by a robust and realistic set of measures to offset increased emissions or reduce them in other sectors, along with a clear communication campaign. This suite of policies would include an assessment of the other benefits of that oil use, such as producing products with environmentally superior characteristics and reducing energy poverty in lower-income countries.

Risks

A policy of aggressively attempting to secure demand in growing consumers or to boost or sustain global oil demand has risks as well as benefits. Investments in refineries, petrochemical facilities, and improved ICE vehicles are tantamount to doubling down on an oil-fueled future. Refining margins are correlated with oil prices in the case of negative demand shocks;¹⁵⁷ a sustained fall in oil demand will require many refineries to be decommissioned and reduce margins for those that remain.

Major oil exporters could be content to export oil while they can, allow consuming countries to build refineries as required, and put the surplus earnings into non-oil savings or even actively into hedges against peak oil demand, such as LNG, biomaterials, battery technologies, and related minerals (lithium, cobalt, rare earth metals, etc.); electric vehicles themselves (including research and development, design, components, manufacture, and software); charging stations (and associated retail); and the required enhanced electricity distribution and marketing.

Some major nonstate oil companies, including Shell, BP, and Total, and majority state-owned Equinor, are already following strategies of a gradual shift toward new mobility, electrification, batteries, wind and solar power, and similar business areas.¹⁵⁸ A major oil exporter or state-owned oil company would therefore face competition in such a strategy from private peers as well as "new energy" specialists.

In alignment with this trend, Saudi Arabia has invested in Uber and in SoftBank's Vision Fund, which has various on-demand transport investments, while Aramco has expressed its interest in investing in other parts of transportation.



To recycle the capital outlay while still achieving the effect of anchoring oil demand, oil exporters could construct refineries and petrochemical plants (which are already usually in joint ventures with a consuming national oil company and/or a leading international refining or petrochemical firm such as ExxonMobil, Total, or Dow Chemical), then sell down most of their stakes while retaining the rights to supply oil to the plants on a long-term basis. A number of NOCs, including Aramco, Petroleum Development Oman, and units of ADNOC, have issued bonds. Meanwhile, ADNOC has brought outside equity capital into its refining, drilling, fuel retail, pipeline, and real estate units, and Aramco has done the same with its oil pipelines, effectively through securitizing tariff payments.

Oil exporters could also seek to reduce their exposure by privatizing their resources, reversing the process of the 1970s. In a small way, the planned IPO of 5 percent of Saudi Aramco, which eventually became a 1.7 percent offering on the local Saudi market,¹⁵⁹ could be seen in this light. Of course, the government would still retain the vast bulk of the rents via taxes and royalties,¹⁶⁰ but it could shift the investment risk to private investors. This strategy could still be pursued concurrently with attempts to sustain oil demand, which indeed would boost the value of the stakes being privatized.



CONCLUSION

Peak oil demand—as opposed to the now largely discredited idea of peak oil supply—has become a growing topic of discussion and concern for major oil-producing companies and countries. The concept is that world oil demand is set to peak and decline in the near future—say within the 2020s or 2030s—due to some combination of the rise of non-oil technologies (notably electric vehicles), improvements in energy and resource efficiency, and tightening policies on the environment and greenhouse gas emissions. This prospect is of particular concern for Gulf countries because of their heavy dependence on oil for gross domestic product, government revenues and exports, and hence the maintenance of their citizens' high standard of living, which is in turn usually linked to the survival of their political systems.¹⁶¹ Nevertheless, given the threat of climate change to the infrastructure, economy, livability, and political stability of the Gulf region and its immediate neighbors, as well as those of their economic partners, Gulf countries have a clear interest in avoiding the worst global warming outcomes, however painful the transition may be.

These countries' oil revenues might at times benefit somewhat counterintuitively from contracting global oil demand if changing strategies by international oil companies and the unwillingness of investors to finance the industry leads to periods of underinvestment and high prices. Overall, however, the consensus view is that declining demand will ultimately result in falling prices and shrinking revenues.

The major oil exporters have responded to the fall in oil prices since 2014, the challenge from US shale oil, and the COVID-19 demand shock by **market management**—so far, curbs on production. To respond to the prospect of peak demand and loss of market share, they may at some point be faced with a move to expand production in a bid to stimulate demand and deter competitors and alternative energy sources.

But even if oil exporters do not necessarily subscribe to the idea that peak oil demand is imminent, they have also responded by repeating and intensifying previous plans for **economic diversification**. As well as fortifying their non-oil investments, they have stepped up strengthening their oil industries by diversifying their activities within the oil value chain itself, with a particular focus on bolstering their downstream sectors: refining and petrochemicals. This is understandable given their competitive strengths. But building on the current pillars of their economies, particularly those not closely correlated to crude oil prices, without overinvesting in areas that are exposed to peak oil demand is a delicate balancing act.

Targeted investments in the oil and petrochemical sectors do make financial and strategic sense for the Gulf monarchies even in the context of a global transition to nonhydrocarbon fuels, and such investments are not necessarily incompatible with plans to diversify their own economies away from the oil sector. Just as oil will continue to be needed in the global fuel mix even in a deep decarbonization scenario, so too will oil revenues be needed by Gulf countries to finance their transitions toward a more diversified form of economic development. Yet the pitfalls are considerable.



To **defend their sales**, major oil exporters need to improve oil's economic and environmental credentials and show how the oil sector itself can contribute to the transition to a lower-carbon economy. Aramco and ADNOC have already taken steps to reduce their carbon footprint via CCUS projects that have so far focused on enhanced oil recovery. Petroleum Development Oman has constructed a large solar thermal plant to generate steam for enhanced heavy oil recovery at the Amal field while saving on gas fuel,¹⁶² and the project is to be extended to the Mukhaizna field.¹⁶³ Aramco credibly touts its low upstream (Scope 1) carbon footprint,¹⁶⁴ and most Middle Eastern NOCs have sought to improve their environmental credentials by upgrading refineries to produce cleaner (lower-sulfur) fuels, improving energy efficiency, and reducing routine methane flaring and venting as well as fugitive methane leaks.

Saudi Aramco, in particular, has invested in research and development to improve the cleanliness and efficiency of internal combustion engines, allowing them to better compete with battery vehicles. This is challenging, though, given the growing policy push in Europe, China, and some US states for entirely zero-emission¹⁶⁵ vehicles. The successful demonstration of DAC at reasonable costs would at least remove the climate argument against oil—if combustion is charged a carbon price equivalent to the cost of removing the resulting emissions—and allow it to maintain its competitiveness in the heavy-trucking, shipping, and aviation markets.

In the space of **creating demand**, the main target so far has been petrochemicals, which are seen as having the most room for growth. Middle Eastern NOCs have invested heavily in joint ventures in refining and petrochemicals in Asia, the fastest-growing large market. As China slows, India and other markets such as Indonesia and Vietnam have attracted attention. There is synergy between the desire of China and India for energy security and the GCC's need for demand security. So far, Middle Eastern NOCs have spent relatively little effort on Africa, though this could be the next big growth story given its geographic proximity, fast-expanding populations, and very low per capita petrochemical use today.

New petrochemical products, including nonmetallic derivatives substituting for traditional materials, are an active area of research, again for Aramco in particular, though developing these to bulk materials is a lengthy process.

Finally, instead of passively waiting for economic and energy demand growth, Gulf states can develop the required infrastructure to unlock demand in lower-income countries, perhaps in collaboration with China's BRI. The risk, however, is that a country could be perceived as reducing their own direct greenhouse gas emissions but at the same time increasing those of other countries—a challenge already faced by China's BRI in the coal sector.

Dealing with the prospect of peak oil demand—uncertain in the timing, the level of the peak, the speed of the postpeak decline, and the accompanying price shifts—is a complex strategic challenge made all the more difficult by the interaction with shorter-term market cycles and climate policies. The Gulf oil exporters have to focus their relatively limited financial, research, and diplomatic resources where they can be most effectual. This paper has described various elements of their current approaches to safeguarding their oil exports and suggested other areas that may be promising.



Significant changes in energy and economic governance and even in domestic political arrangements will likely be required to ensure that oil revenues are efficiently reinvested in the non-oil sector and supporting infrastructure rather than simply redistributed according to the traditional patronage networks of rentier oil states. Oil producers have generally had a poor track record of managing the resource curse. The Gulf monarchies are in many ways an exception to the rule among rentier oil states but will nevertheless need to blaze a new trail to channel oil revenues successfully into the non-oil sector in relatively short order.

While oil demand will not vanish overnight, investments in the oil sector do carry significant risk for Gulf countries, given considerable uncertainties as to the pace and scope of the energy transition, the outlook for oil demand, and the prospects of oil supply from outside of the Gulf, notably from US tight oil basins. Stranded-asset risks loom large. But even profitable investments could have their downsides. The more successful Gulf countries turn out to be at preserving or even growing their oil revenues, the more daunting the challenge of ploughing their oil profits into the non-oil economy and jump-starting their national transformations may be as a result.

of complacency in the face of seemingly sustained oil revenues may be as high as that of failure in the face of shrinking demand.

On a global scale, there is also a significant risk that the rapid adoption of new petroleum products such as nonmetallic materials by high-tech industries and growing demand for plastics from developing economies will result in large outflows of heavier, discounted by-products that will swamp the market and slow the pace of the energy transition.

While the uncertainties of the energy transition thus carry considerable risks for the Gulf's oil-producing countries' adaptation efforts, simply ignoring the transition or aiming to muddle through would be even more perilous. How Gulf producers respond to both changes in demand expectations and actual shifts in oil demand patterns will generate feedback effects that will in turn impact the pace and scope of the clean energy transformation itself. On the one hand, by expanding their share of the oil and gas market while continuing to reduce their own net emissions, Gulf countries have an important role to play in reducing the global climate footprint of the overall global oil and gas supply chain. Given the potentially long lead times needed to reduce the role of oil and gas in the energy mix and the urgency of climate action, this could go a long way to buy the world needed carbon space until longer-term solutions can be worked out.

On the other hand, most oil and petrochemical projects also have relatively long lead times and carry high costs. That means high risks, especially in the event of accelerated developments and breakthroughs in battery research and clean energy supply. For better or worse, the long-term effects of today's investment decisions could be felt for decades. The risks of miscalculation loom large in both directions.



NOTES

- 1. Christine Lagarde and Victor Gaspar, "Getting Real on Meeting Paris Climate Change Commitments," *IMG Blog*, May 3, 2019, <u>https://blogs.imf.org/2019/05/03/getting-real-on-meeting-paris-climate-change-commitments/</u>.
- 2. The six Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) countries are Bahrain, Kuwait, Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, and the United Arab Emirates (UAE). Similar issues apply to other leading oil exporters such as Iran, Iraq, Algeria, and Libya, though they also face other challenges.
- 3. IEA, *Net Zero by 2050*, May 2021, <u>https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/ad0d4830-bd7e-47b6-838c-40d115733c13/NetZeroby2050-ARoadmapfortheGlobalEnergySector.pdf</u>.
- 4. Antoine Halff has talked about the "G3" of oil and the "G4" of energy extensively in various online forums since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic and the Russian-Saudi price war of March 2020. Daniel Yergin writes about the "Big Three" of oil in his book, *The New Map: Energy, Climate, and the Clash of Nations* (New York: Penguin Press, 2020). (See, inter alia, p. 426: "The new oil order is dominated, owing to their sheer scale, by the Big Three—the United States, Russia, and Saudi Arabia.")
- IEA, Outlook for Producer Economies, October 2018, Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/ 5. outlook-for-producer-economies; IRENA, A New World: The Geopolitics of the Energy Transformation, January 2019, https://www.irena.org/publications/2019/Jan/A-New-World-The-Geopolitics-of-the-Energy-Transformation; "Vision 2030," Saudi Vision 2021, https://vision2030.gov.sa/en; "Vision 2021," UAE Vision 2021, https://www.vision2021.ae/ en; Vision Document, Oman Vision 2040, https://isfu.gov.om/2040/Vision_Documents_ En.pdf; General Secretariat for Development Planning, Qatar National Vision 2030, Government Communications Office, July 2008, https://www.gco.gov.ga/en/aboutgatar/national-vision2030/; Kingdom of Bahrain, The Economic Vision 2030, October 2008, https://www.bahrain.bh/wps/portal/bahrain2030_en; "Digital Transformation Driving Iraq's Vision 2030," ITP.net, July 7, 2019, https://www.itp.net/news/619315-digitaltransformation-driving-iraqs-vision-2030; Jahangir Amuzegar, "Iran's 20-Year Economic Perspective: Promises and Pitfalls," Middle East Policy Council XVI, no. 3 (September 2009), https://www.mepc.org/journal/irans-20-year-economic-perspective-promisesand-pitfalls; International Monetary Fund, Economic Diversification in Oil-Exporting Arab Countries, April 2016, https://www.imf.org/external/np/pp/eng/2016/042916.pdf; IEA, Iraq's Energy Sector: A Roadmap to a Brighter Future, April 2019, Paris, https://www.iea. org/reports/irags-energy-sector-a-roadmap-to-a-brighter-future.
- Martin Hvidt (*Economic Diversification in GCC Countries: Past Record and Future Trends*, January 2013, <u>http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/55252/1/Hvidt%20final%20paper%2020.11.17_v0.2.pdf</u>) notes that the Gulf states had diversification policies at least as far back as the 1970s oil boom. See also Roger Owen, "The Arab Economies in the 1970s," *Middle East Report* 100 (October-December 1981), <u>https://merip.org/1981/11/the-arab-economies-in-the-1970s/</u>.



- For example, see the discussion of Saudi Arabia in Michael Bradshaw, Thijs Van de Graaf, and Richard Connolly, "Preparing for the New Oil Order? Saudi Arabia and Russia," *Energy Strategy Reviews* 26 (November 2019), <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2211467X19300677</u>.
- 8. Note the Gulf's economic diversification plans and national visions, particularly the Saudi Vision 2030 and the National Transformation Plan 2020 ("National Transformation Program," Saudi Vision 2021, <u>https://vision2030.gov.sa/en/programs/NTP</u>).
- 9. Samia Nakhoul, William Maclean, and Marwa Rashad, "Saudi Prince Unveils Sweeping Plans to End 'Addiction' to Oil," Reuters, April 25, 2016, <u>https://www.reuters.com/</u> <u>article/us-saudi-economy/saudi-prince-unveils-sweeping-plans-to-end-addiction-to-oilidUSKCN0XM1CD</u>.
- 10. "Sheikh Mohammed bin Zayed's Inspirational Vision for a Post-Oil UAE," *National*, <u>https://www.thenational.ae/opinion/sheikh-mohammed-bin-zayed-s-inspirational-vision-for-a-post-oil-uae-1.8710</u>.
- 11. APICORP, "APICORP: MENA Energy Investments to Exceed USD805 bn over Next Five Years," May 4, 2021, <u>https://www.apicorp.org/apicorp-mena-energy-investments-to-exceed-usd805-bn-over-next-five-years</u>.
- See, for example, Samira Kawar, "Aramco CEO Sees Oil Demand Recovery by 2022," Argus, October 13, 2020, <u>https://www.argusmedia.com/en/news/2149732-aramco-ceo-sees-oil-demand-recovery-by-2022</u> and Jennifer Gnana, "Saudi Energy Minister: Renewables Unlikely to Displace Global Demand for Oil," *National*, January 15, 2019, <u>https://www.thenationalnews.com/business/energy/saudi-energy-minister-renewables-unlikely-to-displace-global-demand-for-oil-1.813550</u>.
- 13. MBS said it made no difference to Saudi Arabia if the oil price was \$20 or \$200. Deema Almashabi, Glen Carey, and Riad Hamade, "Saudi Arabia's Deputy Crown Prince Outlines Plans: Transcript," Bloomberg.com, April 4, 2016, <u>https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2016-04-04/saudi-arabia-s-deputy-crown-prince-outlines-plans-transcript, accessed November 28, 2021</u>.
- 14. See Marwa Rashad and Clara Denina, "Saudi Aramco IPO Oversubscribed So Far, but Not by Big Margin," Reuters, November 29, 2019, <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-saudi-aramco-ipo/saudi-aramco-ipo-oversubscribed-so-far-but-not-by-big-marginidUSKBN1Y31CJ</u>, on the IPO and Davide Barbuscia, Rania El Gamal, and Hadeel Al Sayegh, "Aramco Sells \$12 Billion Bonds out of Record \$100 Billion Demand," Reuters, April 9, 2019, <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-aramco-bond-demand/aramco-sells-12billion-bonds-out-of-record-100-billion-demand-idUSKCN1RLONF</u>, on the Aramco bond issuance in April 2019.
- 15. IEA, Outlook for Producer Economies, IEA, Net Zero by 2050.
- 16. Paul Stevens, *The Geopolitical Implications of Future Oil Demand*, The Royal Institute of International Affairs, August 2019, <u>https://www.chathamhouse.org/sites/default/</u>



files/2019-08-14-FutureOilDemand.pdf.

- 17. In Project on Middle East Political Science, *The Politics of Rentier States in the Gulf*, study 33, January 2019, <u>https://pomeps.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/POMEPS_Studies_33.pdf</u>.
- In The Oxford Institute for Energy Studies, *Economic Diversification in the MENA*, no. 118 (June 2019), <u>https://www.oxfordenergy.org/wpcms/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/OEF-118.pdf?v=ea8a1a99f6c9</u>.
- Andreas Goldthau and Kirsten Westphal, "Why the Global Energy Transition Does Not Mean the End of the Petrostate," *Global Policy* 10, no. 2 (May 2019): 279–83, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1758-5899.12649</u>.
- 20. Meghan L. O'Sullivan, *Windfall: How the New Energy Abundance Upends Global Politics and Strengthens America's Power* (New York: Simon & Schuster, 2017).
- 21. Mohammad S. Masnadi et al., "Global Carbon Intensity of Crude Oil Production," Science 361, no. 6405 (August 2018): 851-3, <u>https://www.researchgate.net/</u> <u>publication/327328315_Global_carbon_intensity_of_crude_oil_production</u>. Oman is the exception, with a slightly above-average carbon footprint due to high water cut, heavy oil, and flaring; but solar thermal steam generation will help cut emissions.
- 22. Jim Krane, "Climate Strategy in Saudi Arabia: More Crude, Less Combustion" in The Oxford Institute for Energy Studies, *Economic Diversification in the MENA*.
- 23. Christophe McGlade and Paul Ekins, "The Geographical Distribution of Fossil Fuels Unused When Limiting Global Warming to 2°C," *Nature* 517 (January 2015): 187–202, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14016</u>.
- 24. European Commission, "Reducing Greenhouse Gas Emissions: Commission Adopts EU Methane Strategy as Part of European Green Deal," press release, October 14, 2020, <u>https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/IP_20_1833</u>; IEA, "Total Methane Emissions and Methane Intensity of Production in Selected Oil and Gas Producers in 2020," *Methane Tracker 2021*, January 2021, <u>https://www.iea.org/reports/methanetracker-2021</u>; Shadia Nasralla, "Satellites Reveal Major New Gas Industry Methane Leaks," Reuters, June 25, 2020, <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-climatechange-methane-</u> satellites-insi-idUKKBN23W3K4.
- 25. Saudi Arabian Oil Company (Saudi Aramco) Prospectus, November 9, 2019, <u>https://www.saudiaramco.com/-/media/images/investors/saudi-aramco-prospectus-en.pdf?la=en&hash=8DE2DCD689D6E383BB8F4C393033D8964C9F5585</u>, 34.
- 26. Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, "G20 Presidency—2020: Energy and Climate," 2020, <u>https://www.ief.org/_resources/files/events/4th-ief-eu-energy-day-the-green-new-deal-and-circular-economy/02.-khalid-abuleif.pdf</u>.
- 27. See, for instance, BP's view in Spencer Dale and Bassam Fattouh, *Peak Oil Demand and*



Long-Run Oil Prices, BP, January 2018, <u>https://www.bp.com/content/dam/bp/business-sites/en/global/corporate/pdfs/energy-economics/bp-peak-oil-demand-and-long-run-oil-prices.pdf</u>.

- 28. Forecasts by BP, Equinor, Shell, ExxonMobil, the US Energy Information Administration, the IEA, and DNV are summarized in Bradshaw, Van de Graaf, and Connolly, "Preparing for the New Oil Order?"; Marianne Kah, *Electric Vehicle Penetration and Its Impact on Global Oil Demand: A Survey of 2019 Forecast Trends*, Center on Global Energy Policy at Columbia University SIPA, December 17, 2019, <u>https://energypolicy.columbia.edu/research/report/electric-vehicle-penetration-and-its-impact-global-oil-demand-survey-2019-forecast-trends</u>.
- 29. Saudi Aramco Prospectus, 34.
- 30. Andrew Gould, letter to Kayrros customers, January 2021.
- Anjli Raval, "Shell's Climate Defeat: An Omen for All Corporate Polluters?," *Financial Times*, May 27, 2021, <u>https://www.ft.com/content/lef8739c-585b-4b25-8177-fe821c8b7375</u>; Steven Mufson, "A Bad Day for Big Oil," *Washington Post*, May 26, 2021, <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/climate-environment/2021/05/26/exxonmobil-rebelshareholders-win-board-seats/</u>.
- 32. BP, "From International Oil Company to Integrated Energy Company: BP Sets Out Strategy for Decade of Delivery towards Net Zero Ambition," press release, August 4, 2020, <u>https://www.bp.com/en/global/corporate/news-and-insights/press-releases/frominternational-oil-company-to-integrated-energy-company-bp-sets-out-strategy-fordecade-of-delivery-towards-net-zero-ambition.html.</u>
- 33. Harold Hotelling, "The Economics of Exhaustible Resources," *Journal of Political Economy* 39, no. 2 (April 1931): 137–75, <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/1822328</u>.
- M. King Hubbert, Nuclear Energy and the Fossil Fuels, presented at the Spring Meeting of the Southern District, Division of Production, American Petroleum Institute, San Antonio, Texas, March 7-9, 1956, <u>http://www.energycrisis.com/Hubbert/1956/1956.pdf</u>; M. King Hubbert, "Degree of Advancement of Petroleum Exploration in United States," *AAPG Bulletin* 51, no. 1 (November 1967): 2207-27, <u>https://archives.datapages.com/data/ bulletns/1965-67/data/pg/0051/0011/2200/2207.htm?doi=10.1306%2F5D25C269-16C1-11D7-8645000102C1865D.
 </u>
- 35. Rebekah Kebede, "Oil Hits Record above \$147," Reuters, July 10, 2008, <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-markets-oil/oil-hits-record-above-147-idUST14048520080711</u>.
- 36. Markets have time and time again disproved Hotelling's notion that oil prices appreciate inexorably as finite resources get depleted because new discoveries have continually pushed depletion further into the future. "Stefan Zweig one [sic] famously quipped that Brazil is the country of the future and will always be so. A similar point could be made, perhaps more accurately, about the extractive industries—there are 25 years of reserves in the ground, and there always will be" (Jean Michel Lasry, Antoine Halff, and Antoine



Rostand, "The Oil Games, Episode 1," Kayrros Series, July 8, 2017, <u>http://res.cloudinary.</u> <u>com/diywkbi34/image/upload/v1522399739/The_Game_EP_1_OK_zbxoep.pdf</u>).

- 37. Another survey of forecasts can be found in Kah, *Electric Vehicle Penetration*.
- IEA, World Energy Model, October 2020, <u>https://www.iea.org/reports/world-energy-model</u>. Previously it had three scenarios: Current Policies, New Policies, and Sustainable Development.
- 39. IEA, World Energy Outlook 2016, November 2016, https://www.iea.org/reports/worldenergy-outlook-2016; ExxonMobil, "Outlook for Energy: A Perspective to 2040," August 28, 2019, http://corporate.exxonmobil.com/en/energy/energy-outlook/downloadoutlook-for-energy-reports; BP, BP Energy Outlook: 2018 Edition, 2018, https://www. bp.com/content/dam/bp/business-sites/en/global/corporate/pdfs/energy-economics/ energy-outlook/bp-energy-outlook-2018.pdf; Greenpeace International, Global Wind Energy Council, and SolarPowerEurope, Energy [R]evolution: A Sustainable World Energy Outlook 2015, September 2015, https://www.greenpeace.org/archiveinternational/Global/international/publications/climate/2015/Energy-Revolution-2015-Full.pdf; Statoil, "Energy Perspectives 2017: Long-Term Macro and Market Outlook," May 2017, https://www.equinor.com/content/dam/statoil/documents/energyperspectives/energy-perspectives-2017-v2.pdf; James Arbib and Tony Seba, "Rethinking Transportation 2020-2030," RethinkX, May 2017, http://bit.ly/2xpDQwx; US Energy Information Administration, "International Energy Outlook 2018," July 24, 2018, https:// www.eia.gov/outlooks/ieo/executive_summary.php; Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries, World Oil Outlook 2040 (Vienna: OPEC Secretariat, 2017), https:// www.opec.org/opec_web/static_files_project/media/downloads/publications/WOO%20 <u>%202017.pdf</u>. RethinkX does not give exact figures, so they have been approximated from its graphs. Not all forecasts give figures for every year, so a smooth polynomial has been used to interpolate.
- 40. IEA, *Oil Market Report—April 2020*, April 2020, <u>https://www.iea.org/reports/oil-market-report-april-2020</u>; IEA, *World Energy Outlook 2020*, October 2020, <u>https://www.iea.org/reports/world-energy-outlook-2020</u>; IEA, Methane Tracker 2021.
- 41. Damien Courvalin, Callum Bruce, Jeffrey Currie, and Huan Wei, "Oil: Solving for a Tight Market," Goldman Sachs, February 21, 2021.
- 42. Under any scenario, the global energy system appears inexorably headed toward a rapid transition that with each passing year promises to be more abrupt: either the world economy manages to drastically cut net emissions at the last minute at the cost of a massive, deep, and accelerated transformation of the global energy system or a much slower transition continues on current trends, ultimately leading to an even more chaotic outcome via catastrophic climate events and irreversible collapse. See Pierre Bismuth, "Hydrocarbures: L'Inévitable et Insaisissable Pic—Entretien avec Antoine Halff," *Variances*, July 15, 2019, http://variances.eu/?p=4294.
- 43. See, for instance, Jude Clemente, "BP's 'Peak Oil' Demand Prediction Falls Flat," Real



Clear Energy, February 22, 2019, <u>https://www.realclearenergy.org/articles/2019/02/22/</u> bps_peak_oil_demand_prediction_falls_flat_110397.html.

- 44. Though it might also be accompanied by degrowth or climate change-induced recession.
- 45. CDP, Beyond the Cycle: Which Oil and Gas Companies Are Ready for the Low-Carbon Transition?, November 2018, <u>https://www.cdp.net/en/investor/sector-research/oil-and-gas-report</u>; David Koranyi, *Navigating the Energy Transition: International Oil Company* Diversification Strategies, Atlantic Council, January 2019, <u>https://www.atlanticcouncil.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Navigating_the_Energy_Transition.pdf</u>.
- 46. Matthias J. Pickl, "The Renewable Energy Strategies of Oil Majors—from Oil to Energy?," *Energy Strategy Reviews* 26 (November 2019), <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2211467X19300574</u>.
- 47. Rob West and Bassam Fattouh, *The Energy Transition and Oil Companies' Hard Choices*, Oxford Institute for Energy Studies, July 2019, <u>https://www.oxfordenergy.org/wpcms/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/The-Energy-Transition-and-Oil-Companies-Hard-Choices-Energy-Insight-51.pdf</u>; Bassam Fattouh, Rahmat Poudineh, and Rob West, *The Rise of Renewables and Energy Transition: What Adaptation Strategy for Oil Companies and Oil-Exporting Countries?*, Oxford Institute for Energy Studies, May 2018, <u>https://www.oxfordenergy.org/wpcms/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/The-rise-of-renewables-and-energy-transition-what-adaptation-strategy-for-oil-companies-and-oil-exporting-countries-MEP-19.pdf.</u>
- 48. As of the time of writing, particularly Iraq, Algeria, Sudan, and Lebanon.
- 49. Inter alia, lifting the ban on women driving, allowing women to travel and have more control over family matters without male guardianship, encouraging female employment, reducing the powers of the religious police, opening cinemas and broadening entertainment options, easing the dress code, introducing tourist visas, and allowing unmarried male and female tourists to share hotel rooms. Greater female empowerment and employment and a more hospitable environment for tourists should also have a positive economic impact.
- 50. Inter alia, energy subsidy cuts and fuel price increases, investing in the mining and tourism sectors, charging expatriate workers and their dependents, raising quotas for Saudi employment, increasing allowed foreign ownership on the stock exchange, creating the Citizens' Account to compensate lower-income citizens for subsidy cuts, introducing value-added tax and "sin taxes" on various products, and introducing a new bankruptcy law. However, these policies have not yet been very successful in cutting unemployment, raising non-oil growth, or increasing foreign direct investment. "FACTBOX—Saudi Arabia's Key Economic and Social Reforms," Reuters, October 25, 2019, <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/saudi-investment-reforms/factbox-saudi-arabias-key-economic-and-social-reforms-idUKL5N2763K6</u>.
- 51. Distinguishing Abu Dhabi from the other emirates of the UAE, which are now not major oil producers.



- 52. IEA, *World Energy Investment 2020*, 2020, <u>https://www.iea.org/reports/world-energy-investment-2020/fuel-supply</u>.
- 53. Eustance Huang, "OPEC and Allies' Oil Production Cut Is Trump's 'Biggest and Most Complex' Deal Ever: Dan Yergin," CNBC, April 13, 2020, <u>https://www.cnbc.</u> <u>com/2020/04/13/opec-cut-is-trumps-biggest-and-most-complex-deal-ever-dan-</u> yergin.html.
- 54. Antoine Halff, "Saudi-Russia Oil War Is a Game Theory Masterstroke," *Financial Times*, April 1, 2020, <u>https://www.ft.com/content/1da60fa2-3d63-439e-abd4-1391a2047972</u>.
- 55. James Herron, Grant Smith, and Anthony Di Paola, "UAE's Breach of OPEC Output Pact Shakes Oil Traders' Faith," Bloomberg, September 11, 2020, <u>https://www.bloomberg.</u> <u>com/news/articles/2020-09-11/uae-s-breach-of-opec-output-pact-shakes-oil-traders-faith</u>; Julianne Geiger, "Will the UAE Withdraw from OPEC?," OilPrice.com, November 18, 2020, <u>https://oilprice.com/Energy/Energy-General/Will-The-UAE-Withdraw-From-OPEC.</u> <u>html</u>; Anjli Raval and Simeon Kerr, "Adnoc Defies Retreat from Oil with Push to Pump Up Output," *Financial Times*, January 17, 2021, <u>https://www.ft.com/content/b13efad3-f494-46a8-842c-ccf7124ad43d</u>.
- 56. Spencer Dale and Bassam Fattouh, *Peak Oil Demand and Long-Run Oil Prices*, Oxford Institute for Energy Studies, January 2018, <u>https://www.oxfordenergy.org/publications/peak-oil-demand-long-run-oil-prices/</u>.
- 57. David Sheppard, Anjli Raval, Derek Brower and Henry Foy, "G20 Backs Largest Oil Supply Agreement in History," *Financial Times*, April 10, 2020, <u>https://www.ft.com/content/16ac91d8-42bf-4190-88de-f3d89b2b36f4</u>.
- 58. David Sheppard, "Oil 'Supercycle' Predictions Divide Veteran Traders," *Financial Times*, February 16, 2021, <u>https://www.ft.com/content/f87ce114-f437-4c3f-bb73-fa38ca78146b</u>.
- 59. Equinor, *Energy Perspectives 2018*, May 2018, <u>https://www.equinor.com/content/dam/</u> statoil/documents/energy-perspectives/energy-perspectives-2018.pdf.
- 60. Including condensate and NGLs and taking Iran's production at its 2018 level based on the figures in BP, *BP Statistical Review of World Energy 2019*, June 2019, <u>https://www. bp.com/content/dam/bp/business-sites/en/global/corporate/pdfs/energy-economics/ statistical-review/bp-stats-review-2019-full-report.pdf</u>.
- 61. "Rising Global Crude Oil Prices Contributing to Higher Petrol, Diesel Rates: Dharmendra Pradhan," *India Today*, February 23, 2021, <u>https://www.indiatoday.in/business/story/</u> <u>rising-global-crude-oil-prices-contributing-to-higher-petrol-diesel-rates-dharmendra-</u> <u>pradhan-1772164-2021-02-23</u>.
- 62. Saudi Aramco, "Managing Our Footprint: Circular Carbon Economy," accessed December 1, 2021, <u>https://www.aramco.com/en/sustainability/climate-change/managing-our-footprint/circular-carbon-economy;</u> Damien McElroy, "Saudi Arabia Makes COP26 Commitments on Carbon Emissions," *The National News*, November 10, 2021, <u>https://</u>



www.thenationalnews.com/world/uk-news/2021/11/10/saudi-arabia-makes-cop26commitments-on-carbon-emissions/.

- 63. Robin Mills, "Global Governance of Carbon Capture and Storage: Role for the GCC?," December 2017, Emirates Diplomatic Academy, <u>https://www.agda.ac.ae/docs/default-source/Publications/eda_insight_global_governance_of_ccs_en.pdf?</u> <u>sfvrsn=4&TSPD_101_R0=08fa865404ab20007391c598eeb9dd6df31d7d0f03bd3f</u> <u>40294e70be8d47a6898d0655dc98458b84086bdf94ad143000c15c1e4c0df6dfa8f</u> <u>6f44ad0f743b953f2566041fca71eee9dc637cc32a2fb6c9e50587cd1b6c14703731fc</u> <u>eb5956182</u>, accessed November 28, 2021.
- 64. Kevin Adler, "Qatar Petroleum Commits to Low-Carbon LNG in Latest Expansion," IHS Markit, February 11, 2021, <u>https://ihsmarkit.com/research-analysis/qatar-petroleum-</u> <u>commits-to-lowcarbon-Ing-in-latest-expansion.html</u>.
- 65. "Executive Order on Protecting Public Health and the Environment and Restoring Science to Tackle the Climate Crisis," White House, January 20, 2021, <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/presidential-actions/2021/01/20/executive-order-protecting-public-health-and-environment-and-restoring-science-to-tackle-climate-crisis/</u>.
- 66. One of the authors of this report, Antoine Halff, is a founding partner of Kayrros SAS and serves as its chief analyst.
- 67. For instance, through bioenergy with CCS, enhanced weathering of minerals, or a variety of processes that extract atmospheric CO₂ directly.
- 68. David W. Keith, Geoffrey Holmes, David St. Angelo, and Kenton Heidel, "A Process for Capturing CO₂ from the Atmosphere," *Joule* 2, no. 8 (August 2018): 1573–94, <u>https://www.cell.com/joule/fulltext/S2542-4351(18)30225-3</u>. This cost is certainly not competitive with zero-emission power generation but might well be with alternatives such as batteries or hydrogen for shipping or long-range aviation.
- 69. Using figures from "Greenhouse Gases Equivalencies Calculator—Calculations and References," US Environmental Protection Agency, <u>https://www.epa.gov/energy/greenhouse-gases-equivalencies-calculator-calculations-and-references</u>.
- 70. Using calculator at "Carbon Offset," Myclimate, <u>https://co2.myclimate.org/en/</u> portfolios?calculation_id=2322802.
- 71. Sweden's carbon tax, the world's highest, is currently about \$126 per ton of CO₂ ("Sweden's Carbon Tax," February 26, 2018, updated August 18, 2021, Government Offices of Sweden, <u>https://www.government.se/government-policy/swedens-</u> <u>carbon-tax/swedens-carbon-tax/</u>). The implied carbon prices of some other climate policies are much higher at, for instance, up to 550-1000 €/ton for some past solar subsidies (Andrea Baranzini et al., "Carbon Pricing in Climate Policy: Seven Reasons, Complementary Instruments, and Political Economy Considerations," *WIREs* 8, no. 4 [July/August 2017]: e462, <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/wcc.462</u>), and average prices for the 1.5°C target during 2030-2100 may be \$140-\$590 per ton



(Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, "Mitigation Pathways Compatible with 1.5°C in the Context of Sustainable Development," in Global Warming of 1.5°C, chapter 2, <u>https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/chapter/chapter-2/</u>).

- 72. Akshat Rathi, "A Tiny Tweak in California Law Is Creating a Strange Thing: Carbon-Negative Oil," Quartz, July 1, 2019, <u>https://qz.com/1638096/the-story-behind-the-worlds-</u> <u>first-large-direct-air-capture-plant/</u>.
- 73. Ryan Hanna, Ahmed Abdulla, Yangyang Xu, and David G. Victor, "Emergency Deployment of Direct Air Capture as a Response to the Climate Crisis," *Nature Communications* 12 (January 2021), <u>https://www.nature.com/articles/s41467-020-20437-0</u>.
- 74. The cost was \$320 per vehicle in this study, though this is outweighed four times by fuel savings: "Fuel Efficiency Saves Consumers Almost Four Times Its Technology Cost," Consumer Federation of America, press release, October 24, 2018, <u>https://consumerfed.org/press_release/fuel-efficiency-saves-consumers-almost-four-times-its-technology-cost/</u>.
- 75. Russell Hotten, "Volkswagen: The Scandal Explained," BBC, December 10, 2015, <u>https://www.bbc.com/news/business-34324772</u>.
- 76. Wael Mahdi, "Aramco Targets Thriftier Engines to Defuse Electric-Car Threat," Bloomberg, January 25, 2018, <u>https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2018-01-25/</u> <u>aramco-devising-thriftier-engines-to-defuse-electric-car-threat</u>.
- 77. Renzo Pipoli, "Saudi Aramco, Chinese Researchers to Pursue Ultra-Low Emission Fuels," United Press International, November 9, 2018, <u>https://www.upi.com/amp/Energy-News/2018/11/09/Saudi-Aramco-Chinese-researchers-to-pursue-ultra-low-emission-fuels/4131541775428/</u>.
- 78. "Transport Technologies," Saudi Aramco, <u>https://www.saudiaramco.com/en/creating-value/technology-development/transport-technologies</u>.
- 79. "Hydrogen for All," Toyota, https://www.toyota-europe.com/hydrogen/.
- 80. On the basis that an increase in engine efficiency is equivalent to a drop in fuel price, ceteris paribus.
- 81. Jing Dong, Diane Davidson, Frank Southworth, and Tim Reuscher, *Analysis of Automobile Travel Demand Elasticities with Respect to Travel Cost*, UT-Battelle and US Department of Energy, August 30, 2012, <u>https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/policyinformation/pubs/hpl-15-014/TCElasticities.pdf</u>.
- 82. "Transport Technologies," Saudi Aramco.
- 83. Martin Menachery, "Aramco Unveils Low-CO₂ Demonstration Truck at SAE Innovations in Mobility Event in Detroit," *Refining and Petrochemicals*, December 11, 2019, <u>https://www.refiningandpetrochemicalsme.com/products-services/27643-aramco-unveils-low-co2-demonstration-truck-at-sae-innovations-in-mobility-event-in-detroit</u>.



- See, for example, Hisham Al Baroudi et al., "A Review of Large-Scale CO₂ Shipping and Marine Emissions Management for Carbon Capture, Utilisation, and Storage," *Applied Energy* 287 (April 2021), <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/</u> <u>S0306261921000684</u>.
- 85. "IMO Agrees to CO₂ Emissions Target," *Maritime Executive*, April 13, 2018, <u>https://www.maritime-executive.com/article/imo-agrees-to-co2-emissions-target#gs.6oTTnOA</u>. See also: "Greenhouse Gas Emissions," IMO, <u>https://www.imo.org/en/OurWork/Environment/Pages/GHG-Emissions.aspx</u>.
- 86. See Kayrros, "Abqaiq, Saudi Arabia: Kayrros Update 10 October 2019." The report notes "Satellite imagery confirms construction on the upcoming 400 kb/d Jizan refinery is complete." Access provided by author Antoine Halff, who is chief analyst at Kayrros in addition to being an Adjunct Senior Research Scholar at CGEP.
- 87. "Alcohol, Biomethane, and Ammonia Are the Best-Positioned Fuels to Reach Zero Net Emissions," Maersk, press release, October 24, 2019, <u>https://www.maersk.com/news/</u> <u>articles/2019/10/24/alcohol-biomethane-and-ammonia-are-the-best-positioned-fuels-to-</u> <u>reach-zero-net-emissions</u>.
- 88. International Transport Forum, *Decarbonising Maritime Transport: Pathways to Zero-Carbon Shipping by 2035*, March 2018, <u>https://www.itf-oecd.org/sites/default/files/docs/</u> <u>decarbonising-maritime-transport.pdf</u>.
- 89. "Wind and Solar Marine Power," Eco Marine Power, <u>https://www.ecomarinepower.com/en/</u> aquarius-eco-ship/8-products-services-and-consulting/15-wind-and-solar-marine-power.
- 90. See, for example, Oleksandr S. Bushuyev et al., "What Should We Make with CO₂ and How Can We Make It?," *Joule* 2, no. 5 (May 2018): 825–32, <u>https://www.cell.com/joule/fulltext/S2542-4351(17)30076-4</u>.
- 91. BP, BP Statistical Review of World Energy 2019.
- 92. New Policies scenario in IEA, *World Energy Outlook 2017*, November 2017, <u>https://www.iea.org/reports/world-energy-outlook-2017</u> and authors' research.
- 93. Some oil-fired, utility-scale power generation capacity can also be found in island nations including the Greek islands and Caribbean islands, as well as in sub-Saharan Africa.
- 94. Hamed Ghoddusi and Franz Wirl ("Crude or Refined? Rationality of Downstream Investment for Oil-Rich Economies," Stevens Institute of Technology School of Business research paper [February 2018, last updated October 2018], <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/</u> <u>ssrn.3116172</u>) consider other rationales for downstream investment by major oil producers.
- 95. IEA, *The Future of Petrochemicals*, October 2018, <u>https://www.iea.org/reports/the-future-of-petrochemicals</u>.
- 96. "2030 Strategy," ADNOC, https://www.adnoc.ae/en/strategy2030.



- 97. Promit Mukherjee and Alexandra Ulmer, "Reliance to Sell 20% Stake in Oil-to-Chemicals Arm to Saudi Aramco," Reuters, August 12, 2019, <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-</u> <u>reliance-stakesale-saudiaramco/indias-reliance-to-sell-20-stake-in-oil-to-chemicals-</u> <u>business-to-saudi-aramco-idUSKCN1V20FG</u>.
- 98. Reem Shamseddine and Stephen Kalin, "Saudi Aramco Signs Crude-to-Chemicals Technology Agreement," Reuters, January 18, 2018, <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-saudi-aramco-oil-chemicals/saudi-aramco-signs-crude-to-chemicals-technology-agreement-idUSKBN1F727B</u>. Base oils are used to produce lubricants.
- 99. David Fickling, "Sorry, Aramco, Reliance Just Isn't That into You," BloombergQuint, updated April 30, 2021, <u>https://www.bloombergquint.com/opinion/mukesh-ambani-doesn-t-have-much-need-for-a-1-stake-in-saudi-aramco</u>.
- 100. Florian Budde et al., *Thoughts for a New Age in Middle East Petrochemicals*, McKinsey & Company and Gulf Petrochemicals and Chemicals Association, November 2015, <u>https://gpca.org.ae/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/GPCA_Thoughts_for_New_Age_Middle_East_Petrochemicals_report_2015_resized.pdf</u>; Saul Daniel and Cristian Blumm, "A Bright Future for Petrochemical Projects in Asia," White & Case, April 21, 2021, <u>https://www.whitecase.com/publications/article/bright-future-petrochemical-projects-asia</u>.
- 101. IEA, The Future of Petrochemicals; EUROMAP, Plastics Resin Production and Consumption in 63 Countries Worldwide, October 2016, <u>http://www.pagder.org/images/</u><u>files/euromappreview.pdf</u>.
- 102. "Saudi Aramco and Shell Finalize Agreement to Separate Motiva Assets," Saudi Aramco, March 7, 2017, <u>https://www.aramco.com/en/news-media/news/2017/motiva-shell-aramco-separation</u>.
- 103. Sean Cronin, "Aramco US Refining Unit Moves into Texas Chemicals Business," *Arab News*, updated August 21, 2019, <u>https://www.arabnews.com/node/1542886/business-economy</u>.
- 104. Alex Hithersay, "Sonatrach and ESSO Italiana Close Augusta Refinery Transaction," *Hydrocarbon Engineering*, December 3, 1018, <u>https://www.hydrocarbonengineering.com/</u> refining/03122018/sonatrach-and-esso-italiana-close-augusta-refinery-transaction/.
- 105. Paul Hodges, "Plastics Recycling Paradigm Shift Will Create Winners and Losers," New Normal, June 17, 2018, <u>http://www.new-normal.com/consumer-demand/plastics-recycling-paradigm-shift-will-create-winners-and-losers/</u>.
- 106. Mark Eramo, "Global Petrochemical Market Outlook: Planning for an Uncertain Future," IHS Markit (PowerPoint presentation, Market Outlook Workshop, San Diego, CA, August 11-12, 2016), <u>https://cdn.ymaws.com/www.vma.org/resource/resmgr/2016_mow_presentations/</u><u>MOW_2016_-_Eramco.pdf</u>; basic chemicals are defined as ethylene, propylene, methanol, paraxylene, benzene, and chlorine (note chlorine is an inorganic chemical).
- 107. "We Depend on Plastic. Now We're Drowning in It." *National Geographic*, June 2018, <u>https://www.nationalgeographic.com/magazine/2018/06/plastic-planet-waste-pollution-trash-crisis/</u>.



- 108. See, for example, Wan-Ting Chen, Kai Jin, and Nien-Hwa Linda Wang, "Use of Supercritical Water for the Liquefaction of Polypropylene into Oil," ACS Sustainable Chemistry & Engineering 7, no. 4 (January 2019): 3749–58, <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/</u> acssuschemeng.8b03841; "Chemistry of Plastics," American Chemistry Council, <u>https:// plastics.americanchemistry.com/Product-Groups-and-Stats/Plastics-to-Oil/What-Are-Plastics-To-Oil-Technologies.pdf;</u> "Turning Waste into Power: The Plastic to Fuel Projects," Power Technology, September 11, 2018, <u>https://www.power-technology.com/</u> comment/plastic-to-fuel/.
- 109. Scott Allen, "A Better Technology Solution: Waste Carbon Dioxide as a Feedstock for Performance Polyurethanes," *Refining and Petrochemicals*, August 21, 2019, <u>https://www.refiningandpetrochemicalsme.com/26449-a-better-technology-solution-waste-carbon-dioxide-as-a-feedstock-for-performance-polyurethanes</u>.
- 110. Nicholas Newman, "The Plastics Backlash Has Some Oil Giants Worried," Rigzone, July 4, 2019, <u>https://www.rigzone.com/news/the_plastics_backlash_has_some_oil_giants_worried-04-jul-2019-159224-article/</u>.
- 111. Thomas Hundertmark et al., "How Plastics Waste Recycling Could Transform the Chemical Industry," McKinsey & Company, December 12, 2018, <u>https://www.mckinsey.</u> <u>com/industries/chemicals/our-insights/how-plastics-waste-recycling-could-transform-the-chemical-industry</u>.
- 112. BP, *BP Energy Outlook: 2019 Edition*, 2019, <u>https://www.bp.com/content/dam/bp/</u> business-sites/en/global/corporate/pdfs/energy-economics/energy-outlook/bp-energyoutlook-2019.pdf.
- 113. Kim Bo-gyung, "Kolon, BASF Launch Joint Venture for Polyoxymethylene Production," *Korea Herald*, October 25, 2018, <u>http://www.koreaherald.com/view.php?ud=20181025000821</u>.
- 114. Stephen Moore, "Celanese Saudi Polyacetal Plant Comes on Stream," Plastics Today, January 4, 2018, <u>https://www.plasticstoday.com/materials/celanese-saudi-polyacetal-plant-comes-on-stream/51757850758044</u>.
- 115. "Saudi Aramco Details Nonmetallic Products Deployment in Oil, Gas," *Oil & Gas Journal*, January 1, 2018, <u>https://www.ogj.com/articles/print/volume-116/issue-1/transportation/</u> saudi-aramco-details-nonmetallic-products-deployment-in-oil-gas.html.
- 116. Saudi Aramco, "IKTVA 2017: Nonmetallic" (PowerPoint presentation, 2017 IKTVA SMEs Forum and Exhibition), <u>https://www.iktva.sa/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/Non-metallics.pdf</u>.
- 117. David Edwards, "Carbon Fiber Reinforced Plastics Market Set to Grow to \$64 Billion by 2030," Robotics and Automation News, September 24, 2020, <u>https://</u> <u>roboticsandautomationnews.com/2020/09/24/carbon-fiber-reinforced-plastics-marketset-to-grow-to-64-billion-by-2030/36717/</u>.
- 118. Jin Zhang, Venkata S. Chevali, Hao Wang, and Chun-Hui Wang, "Current Status of



Carbon Fibre and Carbon Fibre Composites Recycling," *Composites Part B: Engineering* 193 (July 2020), <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S135983681936946X</u>.

- 119. John Timmer, "Process Takes CO₂ from the Air, Converts It to Carbon Nanotubes," Ars Technica, May 30, 2018, <u>https://arstechnica.com/science/2018/05/process-takes-co%E2%82%82-from-the-air-converts-it-to-carbon-nanotubes/</u>.
- 120. "7 Things You Should Know about Non-Metallic Flexible Pipe," Baker Hughes, April 8, 2021, <u>https://www.bakerhughes.com/company/energy-forward/7-things-you-should-know-about-nonmetallic-flexible-pipe</u>.
- 121. "Industry Overview," Malaysian Rubber Council, <u>http://www.mrepc.com/industry/world_production.php</u>, annualizing the figures for Q1-Q3.
- 122. Arlanxeo, <u>http://arlanxeo.com/</u>.
- 123. BP, *BP Energy Outlook: 2020 Edition*, 2020, <u>https://www.bp.com/content/dam/bp/</u> <u>business-sites/en/global/corporate/pdfs/energy-economics/energy-outlook/bp-energy-</u> <u>outlook-2020.pdf</u>.
- 124. BP, BP Statistical Review of World Energy 2019; "Saudi Steel Prices Rise 15%, Cement Drops 0.2% in 9M 2018," Argaam, December 12, 2018, https://www.argaam.com/en/ article/articledetail/id/585086; Goran Djukanovic, "Half-Year Report: Aluminum Prices Still under Pressure," Aluminum Insider, June 14, 2019, https://aluminiuminsider.com/ half-year-report-aluminium-prices-still-under-pressure/; Eric Beckman, "The World of Plastics, in Numbers," The Conversation, August 9, 2018, https://theconversation. com/the-world-of-plastics-in-numbers-100291; Stephen Moore, "Polyacetal Supply-Demand Tight as Chinese Producers Stumble," Plastics Today, May 7, 2018, https:// www.plasticstoday.com/materials/polyacetal-supply-demand-tight-chinese-producersstumble/83836428458712; "All About Polypropylene (PP): Production, Price, Market, and Its Properties," Plastics Insight, https://www.plasticsinsight.com/resin-intelligence/resinprices/polypropylene/.
- 125. "China's Sinopec Outlines Hydrogen Aspirations," Argus, February 24, 2021, <u>https://www.argusmedia.com/en/news/2189848-chinas-sinopec-outlines-hydrogen-aspirations</u>.
- 126. Byron Kaye, "Australia's AGL to Host Coal-to-Liquid Hydrogen Export Trial for Japan's Kawasaki Heavy," Reuters, April 12, 2018, <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-japanhydrogen-australia/australias-agl-to-host-coal-to-liquid-hydrogen-export-trial-forjapans-kawasaki-heavy-idUSKBN1HJ0ET.</u>
- 127. See, for example, Katie McQue, "Saudi Aramco Sees Hydrogen Market Gaining Momentum after 2030," S&P Global Platts, February 22, 2021, <u>https://www.spglobal.com/platts/en/market-insights/latest-news/electric-power/022221-saudi-aramco-sees-hydrogen-market-gaining-momentum-after-2030</u> and Anthony Di Paola, "UAE Aims to Become Blue Hydrogen Powerhouse to Cut Emissions," Bloomberg Green, January 19, 2021, <u>https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2021-01-19/uae-can-be-major-low-cost-blue-hydrogen-producer-adnoc-ceo-says</u>.



- 128. Aqil Jamal, *Shaping the Future Energy Landscape: The Role of Climate Concerns and Technology Innovation*, presentation at the 1st International Association for Energy Economics Middle East Symposium, December 16, 2019.
- 129. Charles Lee, "S. Korea's Hyundai Heavy, Aramco Sign Blue Hydrogen Cooperation Project," S&P Global Platts, March 4, 2021, <u>https://www.spglobal.com/platts/en/marketinsights/latest-news/natural-gas/030421-s-koreas-hyundai-heavy-aramco-sign-bluehydrogen-cooperation-project.</u>
- 130. Rania El Gamal, Chen Aizhu, and Min Zhang, "Saudi Aramco Shifts Strategy in China to Boost Oil Sales," Reuters, March 14, 2019, <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-saudi-aramco-china-oil/saudi-aramco-shifts-strategy-in-china-to-boost-oil-sales-idUSKCN1QV1JC</u>.
- 131. Sam Bridge, "UAE's Adnoc Eyes Chinese Refining Projects under New Deal," *Arabian Business*, July 22, 2019, <u>https://www.arabianbusiness.com/energy/424347-uaes-adnoc-eyes-chinese-refining-projects-under-new-deal</u>.
- 132. Jennifer Gnana, "Adnoc and China's Wanhua in LPG Shipping Joint Venture," *National*, July 23, 2019, <u>https://www.thenational.ae/business/energy/adnoc-and-china-s-wanhua-in-lpg-shipping-joint-venture-1.889832</u>.
- 133. Michael Taylor and Viriya Paramita, "Indonesia Halts Refinery Talks with Kuwait, Saudi– Pertamina Official," Reuters, October 24, 2013, <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/</u> <u>indonesia-oil-refineries/indonesia-halts-refinery-talks-with-kuwait-saudi-pertamina-</u> <u>official-idUSL3N0IE0LL20131024</u>.
- 134. Nguyen Dieu Tu Uyen and John Boudreau, "Biggest Vietnam Oil Refinery Boosts Output as Defects Fixed," Bloomberg, August 7, 2018, <u>https://www.bloomberg.com/news/</u> <u>articles/2018-08-07/vietnam-s-biggest-oil-refinery-boosts-output-after-defects-fixed</u>.
- 135. Khalid Mustafa, "\$6 bn Parco Coastal Refinery to Come on Stream in 2025-26," *The News International*, July 1, 2019, <u>https://www.thenews.com.pk/print/491935-6-bn-parco-</u> <u>coastal-refinery-to-come-on-stream-in-2025-26</u>.
- 136. Mukherjee and Ulmer, "Reliance to Sell."
- 137. "Saudi Aramco to Acquire Shell's Share of the SASREF Refining Joint Ventures," Shell, press release, April 21, 2019, <u>https://www.shell.com/media/news-and-media-</u> <u>releases/2019/saudi-aramco-to-acquire-shells-share-of-sasref-refining-joint-venture.html</u>.
- 138. Fareed Rahman and Jennifer Gnana, "Aramco-Adnoc Project in India Could Cost More Than \$44 bn, Says Petroleum Minister," *National*, September 10, 2019, <u>https://www. thenational.ae/business/energy/aramco-adnoc-project-in-india-could-cost-more-than-44bn-says-petroleum-minister-1.908703.</u>
- 139. "Rosneft Successfully Closes Strategic Deal for the Acquisition of 49% of Essar Oil Limited," Rosneft, press release, August 21, 2017, <u>https://www.rosneft.com/press/releases/item/187527/</u>.



- 140. "Essar Oil in Talks with Aramco, Vitol," *Times of India*, July 1, 2016, <u>https://timesofindia.</u> <u>indiatimes.com/toi-features/business/Essar-Oil-in-talks-with-Aramco-Vitol/</u> <u>articleshow/52999739.cms</u>.
- 141. Katie McQue, "Saudi Aramco up for Grabs in Crown Prince's Drive to Monetize Oil Assets," S&P Global Platts, April 29, 2021, <u>https://www.spglobal.com/platts/en/marketinsights/latest-news/oil/042921-saudi-aramco-up-for-grabs-in-crown-princes-drive-tomonetize-oil-assets</u>.
- 142. Robin Mills, Sarmad Ishfaq, Roa Ibrahim, and Aaron Reese, *China's Road to the Gulf: Opportunities for the GCC in the Belt and Road Initiative*, Emerge Eighty-Five, October 2017, <u>https://emerge85.io/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/Chinas-Road-to-the-Gulf.pdf</u>.
- 143. Ashutosh Pandey, "EU-Japan Take on China's BRI with Own Silk Road," Deutsche Welle, April 10, 2019, <u>https://www.dw.com/en/eu-japan-take-on-chinas-bri-with-own-silk-road/a-50697761</u>.
- 144. Note the European Investment Bank's recent decision to phase out lending to unabated fossil fuel projects: "European Investment Bank Drops Fossil Fuel Funding," BBC, November 14, 2019, https://www.bbc.com/news/business-50427873.
- 145. Michael Graehler, Jr., Richard Alexander Mucci, and Gregory D. Erhardt, "Understanding the Recent Transit Ridership Decline in Major US Cities: Service Cuts or Emerging Modes?" (paper presented at the 98th Annual Meeting of the Transportation Research Board, 2019), <u>http://usa.streetsblog.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2019/01/19-04931-Transit-Trends.pdf</u>.
- 146. Matias Grez, "Volocopter: The World's First Flying Taxi, Coming to the Sky near You Soon," CNN, June 7, 2019, <u>https://edition.cnn.com/2019/06/07/sport/volocopter-air-taxi-green-travel-nico-rosberg-supercharged-spt-intl/index.html</u>, although this model is electric.
- 147. Private space venture SpaceX, founded by Elon Musk of Tesla fame, uses kerosene or liquid methane. Blue Origin, owned by Amazon founder Jeff Bezos, uses hydrogen for its Blue Engine 3 and LNG for its Blue Engine 4 rocket.
- 148. Natasha Frost, "Uber's Biggest Investors Include SoftBank, Google, and the Saudi Arabian Government," Quartz, April 11, 2019, <u>https://qz.com/1593238/who-are-ubersbiggest-investors/</u>.
- 149. "Virgin's Branson Halts Talks on \$1 Billion Saudi Investment in Space Ventures," Reuters, October 11, 2018, <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-saudi-politics-dissident-branson/virgins-branson-halts-talks-on-1-billion-saudi-investment-in-space-ventures-idUSKCN1ML32F</u>.
- 150. "Saudi Arabia Rumoured to Be Funding Ukrainian Hypersonic Spaceplane," SpaceWatch Middle East, March 2018, <u>https://spacewatch.global/2018/03/saudi-arabia-rumoured-funding-ukrainian-hypersonic-spaceplane/</u>.
- 151. Tom DiChristopher, "Saudi Arabia–Which Elon Musk Claimed Would Back a Buyout–



Cut Its Tesla Exposure: FT," CNBC, January 28 2019, <u>https://www.cnbc.com/2019/01/28/</u> saudi-arabia-reportedly-cuts-its-tesla-exposure.html.

- 152. Jennifer Gnana, "Abu Dhabi Could Develop Significant LNG Export Capacity by 2024," *National*, November 5, 2018, <u>https://www.thenational.ae/business/energy/abu-dhabi-could-develop-significant-lng-export-capacity-by-2024-1.788309</u>.
- 153. "Saudi Arabia Aims to Export 3 bln Cubic Feet/Day of Gas before 2030," Reuters, February 26, 2019, <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/saudi-aramco-gas/saudi-arabia-aims-to-export-3-bln-cubic-feet-day-of-gas-before-2030-idUSS8N1ZM003</u>.
- 154. Maurice Berns et al., "In a Warming World, How Should Big Oil Navigate the Future?," Boston Consulting Group, April 29, 2019, <u>https://www.bcg.com/publications/2019/</u> warming-world-big-oil-navigate-future.aspx.
- 155. Apart from emissions in the petrochemical processes, which are substantial.
- 156. Alleanza per il Clima Italia onlus, *Emission Factors for Electric Energy in ECORegion*, http://mycovenant.eumayors.eu/docs/document/4894_1351079384.pdf.
- 157. Ghoddusi and Wirl, "Crude or Refined?"
- 158. Andrew Ward and Leslie Hook, "Oil Majors Plug into Electric Vehicle Technology," *Financial Times*, May 30, 2018, <u>https://www.ft.com/content/aae913f4-632f-11e8-a39d-4df188287fff</u>.
- 159. Andrew England and Anjli Raval, "Saudi Aramco Launches Long-Awaited IPO," Financial Times, November 3, 2019, <u>https://www.ft.com/content/d0eff002-fdf9-11e9-b7bc-</u> <u>f3fa4e77dd47</u>, though much of the investment came from Saudi government investors or from local retail investors funded with domestic bank loans.
- 160. As part of the IPO process, the tax system on Aramco was rejigged to lower the tax rate and change the fixed royalty to a progressive system with a higher take at higher oil prices.
- 161. See, for example, Project on Middle East Political Science, *The Politics of Rentier States in the Gulf.*
- 162. https://www.glasspoint.com/miraah/.
- 163. Angitha Pradeep, "GlassPoint Signs MoU with Occidental of Oman for 2GW Solar Project," ME Construction News, November 14, 2018, <u>http://meconstructionnews.</u> <u>com/32273/glasspoint-signs-mou-with-occidental-of-oman-for-2gw-solar-project</u>.
- 164. Saudi Aramco Prospectus, based on Mohammad S. Masnadi et al., "Global Carbon Intensity of Crude Oil Production," Science 361, no. 6405 (August 2018): 851–3, <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aar6859</u>. "Scope 1" emissions refer to direct greenhouse emissions from a company's operations (in this case, primarily combustion of oil and gas, and fugitive methane).
- 165. At least, at the wheel.





